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1 PRAYER 

 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

3 MINUTES AND BUSINESS ARISING 

3.1 Ordinary Council Meeting Minutes - 9 October 2018  
 
Recommendation 

That the minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 9 October 2018 be received and 
confirmed. 
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3.2 Aerodrome Advisory Group Meeting Minutes - 29 August 2018  
 
Recommendation 

That the minutes of the Aerodrome Advisory Group Meeting held on 29 August 2018 be 
received and adopted. 
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3.3 Audit Committee Meeting Minutes - 29 August 2018 and 3 October 2018  
 
Recommendation 

That the minutes of the Audit Committee Meetings held on 29 August 2018 and 3 October 
2018 be received and adopted. 
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3.4 Local Disaster Management Group Meeting Minutes - 14 September 2018  
 
Recommendation 

That the minutes of the Local Disaster Management Group Meeting held on 14 September 
2018 be received and confirmed. 
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3.5 Burdekin Shire Youth Council Meeting Minutes - 17 September 2018  
 
Recommendation 

That the minutes of the Burdekin Shire Youth Council Meeting held on 17 September 2018 
be received and adopted. 
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4 REPORTS 

4.1 Capital Projects Report for Period Ending 30 September 2018  
 
Recommendation 

That the Capital Projects Report for Period Ending 30 September 2018 be received. 
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4.2 Operational Monthly Report for Period Ending 30 September 2018  
 
Recommendation 

That the Operational Monthly Report for Period Ending 30 September 2018 be received. 
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5 GOVERNANCE  

5.1 Adoption of Revised Fox and Wild Dog Bounty Policy  
 
Document Information 

Referring Letter No:   N/A  
 
File No:   1623 
 
Name of Applicant: N/A 
 
Location:  N/A 
 
Author and Title: Dan Mulcahy – Manager Environmental and Health Services 
 
 
Executive Summary 

Council and staff review the Fox and Wild Dog Bounty Policy biennially to determine if any 
improvements or changes are required.  The policy sets out Council’s commitment to the 
management of foxes and wild dogs within the Burdekin Shire Council Local Government 
Area and provides the rules for administering bounty monies for fox and wild dog scalps to 
ensure consistency when providing payments. 
 
Recommendation 

That Council adopts the attached revised Fox and Wild Dog Bounty Policy. 
 
 
Background Information 

Foxes and wild dogs are considered to be restricted invasive animals under the Biosecurity 
Act 2014 and as such, ongoing population management is required by public and private 
landholders. 
 
Through the management of these declared pests and subsequent reduction in numbers, 
Council aims to reduce the risk of adverse effects to the community, the environment and to 
the livestock industry. 
 
Link to Corporate/Operational Plan 

4.1.6  Promote the adoption of environmental best practice by Council, residents and 
business. 
 
Consultation 

Council reviewed this policy at a workshop on Tuesday 2 October 2018. 
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Legal Authority or Implications 

N/A 
 
Policy Implications 

This policy will replace the existing Fox and Wild Dog Bounty Policy adopted on 27 
September 2016. 
 
Financial and Resource Implications 

Funding provided in budget. 
 
Report prepared by: 
Dan Mulcahy – Manager Environmental and Health Services 
 
Report authorised by: 
Nick Wellwood – Director Infrastructure Planning and Environmental Services 
 
Attachments 

1. Fox and Wild Dog Bounty Policy 
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5.2 Annual Report 2017/2018  
 
Document Information 

Referring Letter No:   N/A  
 
File No:   440 
 
Name of Applicant: N/A 
 
Location:  N/A 
 
Author and Title: Rebecca Stockdale – Executive Officer 
 
 
Executive Summary 

Under the Local Government Regulation 2012 Council is required to prepare an annual 
report for each financial year. The 2017/2018 Annual Report has been compiled to fairly 
represent Council’s achievements throughout the financial year that contribute to meeting the 
strategic intents outlined in the adopted Corporate Plan 2017-2022.  This year, the report 
follows a new format and displays all statutory information in a logical, sequential manner 
making this information easier to locate in the final report.  The Annual Report also includes 
the general purpose financial statements, the current year financial sustainability statement 
and the long-term financial sustainability statement as well as a community financial report 
which all demonstrate Council’s stable financial position. 
 
Recommendation 

That Council adopts the Annual Report 2017/2018 as attached to this report.  
 
Background Information 

All local governments must prepare annual reports to discharge their public accountability 
responsibilities.  As a communication tool, the annual report provides a broad range of 
information to our stakeholders on the services provided by Council, the activities completed 
and the financial performance during the past financial year. Council’s Annual Report allows 
ratepayers, the community and the wider public to assess how we have performed in relation 
to stewardship of community assets and the efficiency, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness 
of operations.  
 
Link to Corporate/Operational Plan 

The “Our Performance” pages of the annual report are directly linked to the Strategic Intent 
Statements in the adopted Corporate Plan 2017-2022 
 
5.3.1 Demonstrate open and transparent leadership 
5.3.2 Ensure Council’s financial position is effectively managed 
5.3.3 Adhere to the governance framework and public reporting systems 
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Consultation 

All managers and directors were involved in providing information for the annual report.  
Other relevant officers throughout the organisation were required to gather and provide 
necessary content according to statutory reporting requirements.  A copy of the Draft Annual 
Report was provided to Council’s Audit Committee for review and consideration at their 
meeting on 3 October.  Council’s financial statements were also endorsed by the Audit 
Committee at this meeting. 
 
Legal Authority or Implications 

The Department of Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning, have published an 
Annual Report Compliance Checklist.  With the adoption of the Annual Report at this meeting 
and the subsequent publication to Council’s website, all necessary compliance measures 
have been met.  
 
Local Government Regulation 2012 
182 Preparation of annual report 
(1) A local government must prepare an annual report for each financial year. 
(2) The local government must adopt its annual report within 1 month after the day the 
auditor-general gives the auditor-general’s audit report about the local government’s financial 
statements for the financial year to the local 
government. 
 
(3) However, the Minister may, by notice to the local government, extend the time by which 
the annual report must be adopted. 
 
(4) The local government must publish its annual report on its website within 2 weeks of 
adopting the annual report. 
 
Policy Implications 

N/A 
 
Financial and Resource Implications 

N/A 
 
Report prepared by: 
Rebecca Stockdale – Executive Officer 
 
Report authorised by: 
Terry Brennan – Chief Executive Officer 
 
Attachments 

1. Annual Report 2017/2018 
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LOCATION
Located 80km south of Townsville and 100km north 
of Bowen, Burdekin Shire is in the heart of the dry 
tropics.  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AREA
5,052.5 square kilometres

POPULATION
17,215 

GEOGRAPHY
Bordered by Townsville City Council to the north, 
Charters Towers Regional Council to the west and 
Whitsunday Regional Council to the south, Burdekin 
Shire boasts rich, fertile soils, abundant water 
supplies and pristine coastlines.

ECONOMY
Agriculture, aquaculture, construction, healthcare 
and social assistance, manufacturing, milling, 
mining, retail trade, sugar cane and training. 

CLIMATE
Our daily average temperature ranges between 
25ºC and 32ºC with 300 days of sunshine and an 
average annual rainfall of 1,060mm.

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL

WHITSUNDAY REGIONAL

BURDEKIN SHIRE

TOWNSVILLE CITY

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL

WHITSUNDAY REGIONAL

BURDEKIN SHIRE

TOWNSVILLE CITY

Shire Profile
Welcome to the Burdekin, where unspoilt natural beauty meets a thriving 
rural community right on the doorstep of the Great Barrier Reef.

CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL

WHITSUNDAY REGIONAL

BURDEKIN SHIRE

TOWNSVILLE CITY
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CHARTERS TOWERS REGIONAL

WHITSUNDAY REGIONAL

BURDEKIN SHIRE

TOWNSVILLE CITY

Burdekin Shire Council respectfully acknowledges the Bindal 
and Juru people of the Birri Gubba Nation as the traditional 

custodians of the land on which we live and work.
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Mayor’s Report
This annual report provides an excellent opportunity for Council to highlight 
the activities, programs and projects of the past year whilst meeting the 
legislative requirement of reporting to State Government.

As I reflect on the past year, I am proud to report 
that Council has continued to build on the strategic 
planning and successes from last year. The new 
organisational structure adopted by Council has 
proven to be a positive decision, adding additional 
experience and support in developing strategy and 
delivering services. 

Councillors and staff are very aware of the 
challenges that the future may bring and continues 
to lobby State and Federal Governments for support. 
To this end Council has collaborated with a number 
of Departments in hosting potential investors. 

The Industry Breakfast programme was very well 
supported with a diverse range of presentations 
covering employment and business opportunities, 
export ready assistance, and innovation pathways.  
With the Burdekin economy built on a strong sugar 
growing base, projects for renewable fuels, value-
added industries and opportunities for diversification 
have been workshopped.

The five North Queensland councils that are 
members of the NQROC work closely together 
in promoting the region’s attributes including 
industry, tourism and investment opportunities. 
Townsville Enterprise Limited led a very 
successful delegation to Singapore, building on 
the Singapore-Australia Free Trade Agreement. 
Along with industry, business leaders and local 
government, I represented the Burdekin as the 
delegation connected with decision makers covering 
agriculture, aquaculture, supply chains and logistics, 
innovation and emerging industries throughout the 
Southeast Asian market. There has been ongoing 
interaction since the delegation.

The cultural value and flow-on economic benefits in 
the community are increasing with a record number 
of events hosted by the community and Council. 
In addition to the many annual events, Council 
identified the need for a Burdekin iconic destination 
event and built on the unique Australian Hand 
Cane Cutting Championships. The Sweet Days, 
Hot Nights Festival was launched and proved to 
be very successful with a record number of visitors 
and locals attending. A bumper program of shows 
and events held at the cultural facilities attracted 
increased patronage and featured local and visiting 
performers displaying outstanding talent. 

The International Year of the Reef was celebrated 
around the world and the Burdekin hosted the very 
successful It’s Your Reef Fest event at Alva. In 
partnership with numerous agencies, community 
groups and incorporating the launch of the film 
S.S. Yongala Mystery, attendance at this event 
surpassed all expectations.  With the Burdekin’s 
close proximity to the Great Barrier Reef the day 
promoted how responsible habits maintain and 
enhance the environment.

Ayr was selected as a venue for the Queen’s Baton 
Relay as it travelled from London to the Gold Coast 
and 16 local baton runners were selected to take 
part. The community support was overwhelming 
and organisers praised the event in the Burdekin as 
being the best supported event held anywhere in 
regional Australia. 



The State Government’s Works for Queensland 
funding is the best initiative introduced in my sixteen 
years in local government. Council completed 
21 projects to a value of $2.93 million in the first 
round and has now been allocated $3 million in 
Round Two. There are 14 projects identified to be 
completed by 30 June 2019. 

Council applications for funding to develop a 
Sports and Recreation Plan, Ayr Showgrounds 
Master Plan and Tourism Plan were successful with 
Council adopting these plans following extensive 
engagement with the community. These plans give 
a strategic direction going forward and will assist in 
prioritising works and projects. 

Residents would be seeing the benefits of 
rejuvenated and brightened landscape in Home Hill, 
Ayr and Giru with the installation of eye catching 
murals and sculptures. Council is receiving very 
positive feedback on the installations and plans are 
in place to develop an Art Trail brochure for locals 
and visitors.

I encourage residents to peruse the Annual Report 
which gives a more detailed account of Council’s 
operations.

In closing, I assure the community that Councillors 
and staff are working collaboratively for the ongoing 
sustainability and future advancement of the Shire. 
I sincerely thank my fellow Councillors, Chief 
Executive Officer Mr Terry Brennan, Directors, 
Senior Leadership Team and staff for their positive 
attitude and dedication in delivering programs and 
services whilst at the same time looking for every 
opportunity to make the Burdekin Shire an even 
better place to live, work, invest and visit.

Cr Lyn McLaughlin
Mayor
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Our Councillors

COUNCILLOR JOHN BONANNO
Cr Bonanno is Council’s 
representative on:
•	 Burdekin Be Active Advisory 

Committee;
•	 Burdekin PCYC;
•	 Carols by Candlelight Committee;
•	 Community Grants Panel; and
•	 Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF) 

Advisory Group.

Cr Bonanno is also the School Councillor 
representative for the Burdekin Catholic High School, 
East Ayr State School and Millaroo State School.

COUNCILLOR TONY GODDARD
Cr Goddard is Council’s 
representative on:
•	 Aerodrome Advisory Group;
•	 Burdekin Shire Council LDMG 

(Deputy Chair until April 2018);
•	 Burdekin Liquor Accord;
•	 Burdekin Road Safety Advisory Committee 

(Chair);
•	 Building Safer Communities Action Team;
•	 Local Authority Waste Management Advisory 

Committee; 
•	 North Queensland Regional Waste Reduction 

and Recycling Plan Group; and
•	 Reef Guardian Councils.
Cr Goddard is also the School Councillor 
representative for Ayr State High School, Ayr 
State Primary School and Home Hill State Primary 
School.

•	 Reef Guardian 
Councils; and

•	 Regional Economic 
Development Sub-
Committee of NQ 
ROC (REDROC).

Cr McLaughlin is also in regular attendance at the 
following groups and committees in her role as 
Mayor:
•	 Ayr Chamber of Commerce;
•	 Burdekin Shire Youth Council;
•	 Home Hill Chamber of Commerce; and
•	 North Queensland Dry Tropics (Director - Local 

Government).

The Mayor is ex-officio on all Council Advisory 
Groups. 

MAYOR COUNCILLOR LYN MCLAUGHLIN 

Cr McLaughlin serves on numerous boards, groups 
and committees. 

Cr McLaughlin is Council’s representative on:
•	 Aerodrome Advisory Group (Chair);
•	 Bowen-Burdekin Local Marine Advisory 

Committee;
•	 Burdekin Cultural Advisory Group (Chair);
•	 Burdekin Shire Council Local Disaster 

Management Group (LDMG) (Chair);
•	 Burdekin Shire Rivers Improvement Trust 

(BSRIT) (Deputy Chair);
•	 Burdekin Water Futures (Chair);
•	 Community Grants Panel; 
•	 District Disaster Management Group;
•	 North Queensland Regional Organisation of 

Councils (NQ ROC);
•	 North Queensland Regional Roads and 

Transport Group;
•	 North Queensland Sports Foundation;
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COUNCILLOR JOHN WOODS
Cr Woods is Council’s 
representative on:

•	 Audit Committee;
•	 Burdekin Bowen Integrated 

Floodplain Management Advisory 
Committee (BBIFMAC);

•	 Burdekin Cultural Advisory Group;
•	 Burdekin Shire Council LDMG (Deputy Chair from 

April 2018); 
•	 Burdekin Shire Rivers Improvement Trust; 
•	 Burdekin Tourism Association (disbanded 

December 2017); and
•	 Regional Tourism Working Group of Townsville 

Enterprise Limited.

Cr Woods is the School Councillor representative 
for Burdekin Christian College, Clare State School, 
Burdekin School and Home Hill State High School. 

Councillor Woods was elected as Vice President of the 
Northern Alliance of Councils (formally known as the 
North Queensland Local Government Association). 

COUNCILLOR TED BAWDEN
Cr Bawden is Council’s 
representative on:

•	 Burdekin Community 
Association;

•	 Burdekin Road Safety Advisory 
Committee;

•	 Burdekin Seniors’ Advisory Group (Chair);
•	 Pest Management Plan Working Group; and
•	 Rural Health Consultative Committee.

Cr Bawden is also the School Councillor representative 
for Brandon State School, Jarvisfield State School and 
Maidavale State School.

COUNCILLOR ULI LIESSMANN
Cr Liessmann is Council’s 
representative on:

•	 Beachmount Reserve 
Management Group;

•	 Burdekin Landcare Group;
•	 Community Grants Panel;
•	 Home Hill Chamber of Commerce; and
•	 RADF Advisory Group (Chair).

Cr Liessmann is also the School Councillor 
representative for Giru State School, Osborne State 
School and St. Coleman’s School.

COUNCILLOR SUE PERRY 

Cr Perry is Council’s representative 
on:

•	 Audit Committee;
•	 Ayr Chamber of Commerce;
•	 Burdekin Cultural Advisory Group;
•	 Burdekin Neighbourhood Centre Association;
•	 Economic Advisory Group (Chair); and
•	 Lower Burdekin Water Board.

Cr Perry is also the School Councillor representative 
for Airville State School, Kalamia State School and St 
Francis Primary School.
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I am pleased to report that the 2017/18 financial 
year has been a busy and productive year for the 
Council. A number of important strategic priorities 
have been progressed or completed and other 
significant initiatives commenced.

The review and adoption of a revised organisational 
structure was completed in November 2017 to 
enhance the strategic capability of the Council and 
eliminate duplication and overlap. The first steps in 
implementing the structure involved the appointment 
of two new directors and this was completed in April 
2018. The new directors are making a significant 
contribution to the organisation.

The certification of a new Enterprise Bargaining 
Agreement in June 2018 covering the Council 
workforce was the result of lengthy and at times 
difficult negotiations between the parties. The 
finalisation of the agreement is pleasing given the 
significant delays in being able to start negotiations 
whilst State Government reforms to the industrial 
relations framework were implemented. The 
agreement is for a three-year period and provides 
certainty to both employees and the Council as to 
the terms and conditions of employment. 

The audited financial statements for 2017/18 
indicate that Council finished the financial year 
in a strong position, meeting all key financial 
sustainability ratios. This is an excellent outcome 
and reflects the good financial and asset 
management practices that Council has in place. 
There is a continuing focus on the Council’s 
long-term financial sustainability and ongoing 
improvements to our asset management systems 
will help provide a clearer picture of our asset 
renewal needs which will better inform decisions on 
future capital projects.

In the area of corporate governance, significant 
progress was achieved during the year on the 
review of existing policies and the adoption of new 
policies. This has been a major body of work and 
is planned to be completed by the end of 2018. An 
enhanced focus on risk management was initiated 
during the year with the adoption of an enterprise 
risk management approach, with significant works 
planned to fully implement this next year.

The Council has once again been successful in 
obtaining grant funding for a number of key projects 
with over $2.5 million being secured for major 
projects including water supply and sewerage 

switchboard upgrades in Ayr and Home Hill and 
drainage upgrade works in Edwards Street, Ayr. A 
key project completed during the year with State 
Government funding support was the upgrade 
of the Mount Inkerman Lookout, with substantial 
improvements undertaken to the access road and 
lookout area and the construction of a new walking 
trail to enhance the visitor experience.

Council staff continue to provide excellent 
customer service as reflected in the achievement of 
performance targets for responsiveness to customer 
requests. A large number of compliments continue 
to be received from residents and visitors in relation 
to the standard of maintenance of our facilities and 
the attitudes displayed by staff in undertaking their 
roles.

Looking ahead to next year some of the key 
priorities include the preparation of the new Shire 
Planning Scheme which was commenced during 
the current year, the completion of projects under 
the second round of the State Government’s Works 
for Queensland program and the implementation of 
strategies outlined in the Burdekin Tourism Strategy.

I would like to thank the Mayor, Lyn McLaughlin, 
Councillors and staff for their support over the 
past year which has ensured that the Council is 
continuing to make good progress in achieving its 
corporate objectives.

Terry Brennan 
CEO

Chief Executive Officer’s Report



Burdekin Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18 | 13

ORGANISATIONAL VALUES
To achieve our mission, Council has adopted the 
following values:

•	 Customers First

•	 Lead and Innovate

•	 Value People

•	 Continuous Improvement

•	 Ideas into Action

OUR VISION
Through committed leadership Burdekin Shire 
Council will work with the community to create an 
inclusive, welcoming and healthy environment that 
offers a high quality of liveability for residents that is 
underpinned by a productive and diverse economy.

OUR MISSION
To achieve our vision through leadership, 
facilitation, innovation and outstanding service.

CEO

Director Corporate and 
Community Services

Media and 
Communications

Executive 
Support

Economic 
Development

Manager 
Client Services

Manager 
Environmental 

and Health 
Services

Manager 
Planning and 
Development

Manager 
Technical 
Services

Manager 
Operations

Manager 
Financial and 
Administrative 

Services

Manager 
Community 

Services

Corporate 
Governance

Customer 
Service

Disaster 
Management

Human Resources

Information and 
Communications 

Technology

Safety and Quality

Training and 
Development

Mayor and Councillors

Director Infrastructure, 
Planning and 

Environmental Services

Building

Facilities 
Management

Plumbing 

Town Planning

Animals and 
Compliance

Environmental 
and Health 

Services 

Waste 
Management

Assets and GIS

Council Workshop

DTMR Works 
Administration

Technical Design

Administration 
and Records

Expenditure 
Services

Financial Services

Rates

Community 
Development 

Council Events

Cultural Facilities

Library Services

Administration 
Support NDRRA/

Contracts

Parks, Gardens 
and Cemeteries 

Purchasing/Store

Works

Water and Waste 
Water

Organisational Structure
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Community Financial Report
Recurrent Income – Where did the 
money come from? 
Council raised 82.49% of the recurrent income from 
its own sources, e.g. rates and levies, and fees and 
charges, reducing Council’s reliance on external 
sources of income. Council actively pursues 
revenue from the State and Federal Governments in 
the form of grants and subsidies, to ease the burden 
on ratepayers. 

The following chart shows the breakdown of the 
different sources of recurrent income.

Recurrent Income

The Community Financial Report is prepared to 
present a simplified version of Council’s financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 and 
provide the reader with a better understanding 
of Council’s financial performance and financial 
position. 

The Community Financial Report is prepared 
in accordance with section 179 of the Local 
Government Regulation 2012.  

This report provides a summary of Council’s:
•	 Statement of Comprehensive Income;
•	 Statement of Financial Position;
•	 Statement of Changes in Equity;
•	 Statement of Cash Flow; and
•	 Measures of Financial Sustainability. 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME
The Statement of Comprehensive Income 
summarises how much money was received by 
Council and how much was spent in the financial 
year, giving a net result. 

The net result includes recurrent income 
and expenses as well as capital income and 
expenditure. Recurrent income and expenditure 
is money received or spent on the day to day 
operations of Council. Capital income is usually 
sourced from grants, subsidies and developer 
contributions received solely for the purpose of 
funding current and future capital works on assets 
and infrastructure. Capital expenses predominantly 
represent the value of assets replaced or disposed 
of throughout the year.

Council’s result at a glance

          2018
Recurrent operating income $49,851,990
Recurrent operating 
expenditure

$46,318,291

Operating position $3,533,699

Capital income $5,933,863
Capital expenses $2,320,794

Net result $7,146,768

Interest received 
$1,959,495 

Sales of contract and 
recoverable works 
$1,784,248 

Other recurrent income 
$367,696

Rates and levies 
$38,877,353 

Operating grants, 
subsidies and 
contributions 
$4,618,774 

Fees and charges  
$2,244,424 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
The Statement of Financial Position summarises the financial position of Council at the end of the financial 
year.  This shows what Council owns (assets) less what Council owes (liabilities). The difference between 
these amounts is the net community wealth (equity) of Council. Council’s financial position at 30 June 2018 
was: 

Recurrent Expenses – Where was the money spent?
Council’s recurrent (operating) expenses include employee benefits, materials and services, depreciation, 
amortisation and finance costs. These day to day costs are monitored throughout the year to enable 
Council to provide services, operate community facilities, maintain assets, and administer corporate 
functions.  

Depreciation expenses represent the reduction in the value of property, plant and equipment over time 
resulting from wear and tear. To ensure the depreciation amount is reflective of asset utilisation, Council’s 
assets are reviewed annually taking into account the value, condition and remaining life. 

Recurrent Expenses

Employee benefits  $19,955,058   

Material and services  $14,530,959   

Depreciation  $10,838,670   

Amortisation  $263,385   

Finance costs  $730,219   
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Liabilities – What do we owe?
Council’s liabilities are borrowings, amounts owed to 
suppliers, provisions for future rehabilitation costs of 
landfill sites and amounts owed to employees both 
now and in the future (e.g. long service leave).  

Council’s total liabilities at 30 June 2018 were 
$27,414,272, which is a reduction of $944,675 from 
the 2016/17 financial year. 

Loan Debt
In accordance with the Local Government 
Regulation 2012, Council adopts an annual 
Debt Policy. This ensures sound management of 
Council’s existing and future debt. Council is mindful 
of the additional costs incurred by the community 
when assets are acquired through borrowings, 
as this increases the cost of providing capital 
infrastructure. However, by using borrowed funds, 
the cost of longer life assets is spread across the 
generations receiving the asset’s benefits.  

Loan Debt
Transport (Roads and 
Bridges)  $4,928,729 

Buildings  $1,243,339 

Sewerage  $1,612,673 

Drainage  $216,779 

Water  $733,719 

Other assets 
$1,014,172 

Plant and equipment 
$2,004,723 

Works in progress 
$3,579,054 

Assets – What do we own?
As at 30 June 2018, Council controlled assets worth 
$567,879,135.
 
Council’s most significant asset class is property, 
plant and equipment as it equates to 88.99% of 
Council’s total asset value.  

In 2017/18 Council spent $15,333,188 to renew, 
upgrade and build new community assets.  

Capital Expenditure by asset class

What do we owe?

There were no new loan borrowings in the 2017/18 
year or in the 10-year budget forecast.  Council 
made principal repayments of $1,667,896 and 
interest payments of $241,911.  Therefore, the 
outstanding debt at 30 June 2018 was $3,433,946, 
equalling $389.38 of debt per rateable property.  
This is a continued reduction from 2016/17 where 
the debt per rateable property was $577.13. 
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Net Financial Liabilities Ratio
This ratio is an indicator of the extent to which the net financial liabilities of Council can be serviced by its 
operating revenues. 

TARGET 2018 2017 COMMENTS
Between 0% 

and 10%
7.09% 13.77% Council is within the target range. This shows that Council has been 

able to fund operating expenditure through operational revenue. 
This also shows that Council can fund future capital expenditure 
and/or debt repayments and maintain service levels expected by 
rate payers. The 2017 ratio was higher due to the prepayment of the 
2017/18 Financial Assistance Grant.

Asset Sustainability Ratio
This ratio is an approximation of the extent to which the infrastructure assets (long life assets, e.g. water, 
sewerage, roads, etc.) managed by Council are being replaced as they reach the end of their useful lives. 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
The Statement of Changes in Equity measures the change in Council’s net worth over the financial year. 
This statement summarises the asset revaluation surplus and retained surplus. The asset revaluation 
surplus has increased to $295,598,109. The retained surplus increased to $244,866,754.  

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
The Statement of Cash Flows identifies Council’s cash receipts and where money was spent during the 
year. This statement differs from earlier statements as it excludes non-cash items, such as depreciation. 
Cash transactions originate from operating, investing and financing activities.  

In accordance with the annual Investment Policy, Council invests surplus funds and the interest earned 
helps fund operational expenses. 

The cash result for 2017/18 was an increase of $8,596,619. The increase in cash is reflective of factors 
such as the increase in rates received in advance, a reduction in the outstanding rates receivable, increase 
in grant funds received and the maturity of a long term cash investment.

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY MEASURES
Financial sustainability is achieved through Council’s ability to maintain infrastructure and remain financially 
viable over the long term. The three levels of financial sustainability outlined in section 169(5) of Local 
Government Regulation 2012 are Operating Surplus Ratio; Asset Sustainability Ratio; and Net Financial 
Liabilities Ratio. Target ranges for these are set by the Department of Local Government, Racing and 
Multicultural Affairs. These target ranges are to be considered as planning tools to assess Council’s current 
sustainability strategy over the long term and are not necessarily targets to be met at the end of each 
financial year.

Operating Surplus Ratio
This ratio is an indicator of the extent to which revenues raised cover operational expenses only or are 
available for capital funding purposes or other purposes. 

TARGET 2018 2017 COMMENTS
Greater than 

90%
96.86% 68.90% Council has achieved the target rate. Council’s calculation of the 

ratio does not include the Plant and Equipment and Land and 
Improvement asset classes.  The utilisation of grant funds received 
has increased Council’s ability to invest in renewal and asset 
replacement.

TARGET 2018 2017 COMMENTS
Not greater 
than 60%

-67.81% -56.99% Council’s current assets exceed total liabilities and therefore it has 
the capacity to increase loan borrowings if required.





Part 2

Our Achievements
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Our Performance
Council’s Operational Plan outlines the organisation’s objectives for the 
year in delivering on the strategic outcomes of the Burdekin Shire Council 
Corporate Plan 2017-2022.

Implementation of the 2017/18 Operational Plan was based on the five key strategic areas and associated 
strategies detailed in the Corporate Plan 2017-2022. Highlights of our achievements are outlined below, 
with more detailed information on our performance in relation to each Key Strategic Area provided in the 
following chapters of this report. 

Infrastructure
•	 Completed Mount Inkerman lookout upgrade

•	 Constructed Mount Inkerman Nature Trail 
(MINT)

•	 Upgraded switchboards at South Ayr Water 
Treatment Facility

•	 New shade structure installed at Watson’s 
Green over the skate park

Economic Development
•	 Hosted a series of industry breakfasts 

to strengthen networks and encourage 
innovation in local industry

•	 Women’s Be the Best You Motivational 
Evening headlined by Michelle Bridges

•	 Sweet Days, Hot Nights Festival including the 
First Fire event and the Australian Hand Cane 
Cutting Championships

Social Wellbeing
•	 Launched the new Emergency Dashboard to 

boost community resilience against disasters

•	 Provided $438,379 in community grants, 
donations and in-kind support

•	 Hosted the Commonwealth Games Queen’s 
Baton Relay 

•	 Burdekin-wide art trail commenced including 
new artworks in the Home Hill and Ayr CBD’s

Environment 
•	 Hosted It’s Your Reef Festival

•	 Hosted the Pets Day Out

•	 Energy efficiency initiatives implemented 
including reflective roof coating on Council 
buildings

Organisational Sustainability
•	 Finalised new Enterprise Agreement

•	 Over 6,000 customer requests received 
across all Council departments with over 82% 
completed within target

•	 Council employs a total of 251 full time 
equivalent employees



Infrastructure
INFRASTRUCTURE FOR FUTURE 
NEEDS
The new Mount Inkerman Nature Trail (MINT) and 
the upgrade of the Mount Inkerman lookout were 
delivered this year providing residents and tourists 
with a wonderful opportunity to take in the beautiful 
views of the Burdekin Shire. The upgrade included 
the installation of two new lookout structures, 
additional car parking and a new toilet facility. The 
upgrade also included widening and resealing 
of the Inkerman Hill Road and replacement of 
the guardrails. A nature-based walking track now 
extends from the Inkerman shops to the new lookout 
and has been extremely popular with locals and 
visitors alike. 

MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 
OF COMMUNITY ASSETS
Council continues to proactively manage and 
maintain community assets. In April, Council 
reviewed and adopted a series of Asset 
Management Plans detailing the various classes of 
assets managed by Council and ensuring that there 
is a systematic process adopted for developing, 
operating, maintaining, upgrading and disposing 
of assets in the most cost-effective way. Council’s 
asset management classes are buildings, drainage, 
sewerage, transport and water. 

SAFE AND EFFECTIVE TRANSPORT 
NETWORKS
During July and August 2017, under the Queensland 
Government Works for Queensland funding 
program, Council constructed a new roundabout 
at the intersection of Young and MacMillan Street, 
Ayr providing a boost for safety for all motorists and 
reducing the chance of collisions at this intersection. 
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Bitumen and resealing works were carried out in 
Macmillan Street, Young Street and Albert Street, 
Ayr along with kerb and channel and bitumen 
reconstruction works in Fifteenth Avenue and Fourth 
Street, Home Hill and Beach Road, Ayr. Council 
also carried out bitumen and resealing works on 
several rural roads including Lena Road, Mt Kelly 
and Donadon Road, Airdmillan. Footpath upgrades 
were carried out in parts of Queen Street, Ayr and 
Ninth Avenue, Home Hill, along with new footpaths 
being installed in parts of Giru and sections of 
Edward and Little Drysdale Streets, Ayr. 

SECURING AND MANAGING WATER 
RESOURCES
Council conducted numerous activities to ensure 
that the town water supply was well managed 
including the upgrade and replacement of various 
water mains and maintenance and replacement 
of water meters. Council replaced the aerator at 
the Home Hill water tower and the switchboards at 
the sewage pump stations in Ayr. Council prides 
itself on achieving an extremely high level of 
customer service in the water and waste water area 
and during the financial year over 93% of water 
maintenance customer requests were completed 
within the agreed customer service timeframes.

EFFECTIVELY EMPLOY TECHNOLOGY
As an initiative to improve public safety and 
discourage anti-social behaviour, Council 
implemented a camera surveillance pilot project 
which saw the installation of camera devices at 
ANZAC Memorial Park, Burdekin Library, Mount 
Inkerman scenic lookout and the Edward Street Taxi 
Rank.

During the year, 28 staff computers, four 
photocopiers and 11 smart phones were replaced 
as part of Council’s annual information and 
communications technology replacement programs. 
Council also established an Information Security 
Committee to develop and promote information 
security capability within the organisation. 
Additionally, Council introduced virtual desktop 
infrastructure (VDI) to allow greater mobility for our 
workforce and to enhance corporate systems.
 

Mount Inkerman Lookout upgrade



Economic Development
STRENGTHEN NETWORKS
Council supported the Burdekin Water Futures 
Committee to host the Burdekin Water Forum in 
October, showcasing various initiatives such as 
innovative irrigation and cropping management 
practices developed in various communities and 
environments across the country. Events such 
as these help local businesses to make new 
connections and solidify business relationships.

ENCOURAGE RE-INVESTMENT AND 
ATTRACT NEW INVESTMENT TO THE 
BURDEKIN
Council met with a number of project proponents 
and provided follow up assistance. These included 
new business opportunities, companies already 
investing in the shire as well as companies that had 
already visited the Burdekin and were holding next 
stage discussions for projects.

PLAN AND CO-ORDINATE OUR 
COMMUNITIES
A total of 10 Material Change of Use applications, 
31 Applications to Reconfigure a Lot and one 
Operational Work Development Application were 
received and assessed by Council’s Planning and 
Development Department during the financial 
year. In issuing any development permits, land 
use outcomes have focussed on being achievable, 
sustainable and in the best interest of the 
community.  A total of 34 survey plans have also 
been released within this same period.

Council has worked to encourage and promote pre-
lodgement meetings with potential developers to 
facilitate economic growth opportunities within the 
Burdekin Shire. Effective pre-lodgement meetings 
are a crucial element in ensuring new economic 
development opportunities lead to sustainable 
planning outcomes.  

A new Local Government Infrastructure Plan (LGIP) 
is due to be implemented from mid-July 2018. The 
LGIP will replace the current Infrastructure Charges 
Resolution. Both the resolution and the new 
LGIP are the mechanisms Council use to ensure 
developers contribute towards the infrastructure 
needed to service each proposed new development. 
In addition, Council have engaged a consultant to 
develop a new planning scheme in accordance with 
statutory requirements of the Planning Act 2016.

EMPOWER THE COMMUNITY
Council has continued to empower the community 
throughout the year by hosting a series of six 
industry breakfasts which provided local businesses 
with insights into new opportunities available in 
the Burdekin Region. Highlights of the industry 
breakfasts include presentations from the CEO 
of the North Queensland Cowboys and tourism-
focused presentations from Townsville Enterprise 
Ltd. Council also actively continues to promote state 
and federal funding opportunities to local business 
and community organisations.

ENCOURAGE INNOVATION
In May, Council hosted the 2018 Burdekin Export 
Forum to encourage Burdekin growers to consider 
potential export opportunities and provide insight 
into existing export arrangements. With trade 
and investment service providers on hand and 
case studies and presentations from successful 
local producers, attendees were presented with 
practical insights into doing business internationally. 
Local crop growers were able to learn more 
about emerging markets, supply chains and what 
international opportunities were currently available. 

In June, Council in partnership with the Queensland 
Renewable Fuels Association hosted the Growing 
Renewable Fuels in Regional Queensland - Project 
Development and Opportunities in the North. Key 
industry leaders provided information to primary 
producers about value adding opportunities in the 
renewable fuels industry and how biofuels are part 
of the strategic approach to domestic fuel security. 

In partnership with Townsville Enterprise, 
Council hosted three storytelling and experience 
development workshops for Burdekin businesses 
and organisations. This was aimed at educating 
Burdekin tourism operators on the value of so-called 
hero experiences and storytelling and how this can 
be incorporated into business products, services 
and activities. 

During the financial year, Council received funding 
through the Building Better Regions Fund to develop 
a Burdekin Tourism Strategy. The plan is due to be 
completed by late 2018 and will outline the strategic 
direction for Burdekin Shire Council to plan and 
develop tourism opportunities within the Shire.
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Sweet Days, Hot Nights Festival

Sweet Days, Hot Nights Festival
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Sweet Days, Hot Nights Festival
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Social Wellbeing
SAFE, HEALTHY, INCLUSIVE AND 
SOCIALLY ENGAGED COMMUNITIES

Council has continued its efforts to ensure the 
Burdekin Community is well connected, socially 
engaged, inclusive and well prepared for disaster 
events.

In November 2017 Council launched a new 
Emergency Action Guide which was provided to all 
households within the Burdekin Shire. The guide 
was designed to assist residents plan and prepare 
for disaster events such as floods, bushfires and 
cyclones and provides practical advice and tips for 
having emergency plans in place and emergency 
kits prepared. The guide also provides advice on 
what to do before, during and after a disaster event 
and includes maps for storm surge and inundation. 
Council received an influx of positive feedback on 
this innovative initiative and plans to continue to 
proactively approach disaster preparedness in our 
community.

Public health and safety are a strong focus of 
Council’s Environment and Health department with 
over 140 routine regulatory inspections of licensed 
premises being undertaken throughout the year. 
Additionally, more than 400 customer requests were 
addressed, and six food safety training courses 

were delivered to local food service providers. 
Council also maintained a spotlight on responsible 
pet ownership and animal management by hosting 
the annual Pet Day Out at Plantation Park and 
responding to customer request regarding roaming 
animals and dog attacks.

In March, the Burdekin community welcomed the 
Queen’s Baton Relay as part of the Gold Coast 
2018 Commonwealth Games. Sixteen local baton 
bearers proudly carried the Baton, which had a 
message from Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II to the 
game’s athletes. Baton bearers were chaperoned 
by Commonwealth Game’s officials and motorcycle 
police whilst they were cheered on by school 
students, shop keepers, community members and 
tourists. A community celebration including live 
music, face painting, sidewalk sales and children’s 
activities was hosted in the main street of Ayr in 
honour of the Baton Relay.

In June, Council held the 2018 Queensland Day Fun 
and Fitness Expo to showcase the various sporting, 
health and fitness options available locally.  This 
free family event, held for the first time at Hutchings 
Lagoon, boasted live water-skiing demonstrations 
and a special guest appearance by Queensland 
footballer and State of Origin player Steve Renouf. 
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Burdekin Water Festival

Sweet Days, Hot Nights Festival

Queensland Day Fun & Fitness Expo

Burdekin women were encouraged to increase their 
activity levels through the 2018 Burdekin Women 
and Girls Get Out, Get Active Program funded 
by the Department of National Parks, Sport and 
Racing. The program aimed to encourage women 
and girls who may not be as active as they would 
like to be to try out a new physical activity over an 
eight week period and was well supported by local 
health and fitness providers. This initiative saw a 
high level of interest from participants. 

STRONG COMMUNITY 
ORGANISATIONS
Council continues to provide ongoing support to 
community organisations in a variety of ways. 
Council provides grant funds and interest free 
loans under our Community Grants Program and 
our Revenue Assistance Policy. Council also works 
closely with sporting and community organisations 
to build resilience and sustainability by providing 
support in applying for external grants and assisting 
with advice pertaining to operating an incorporated 
association. Council also works with community 
organisations to promote local events via our 
social media platform, website and the Community 
Connections newspaper pages. 

CREATING PLACES OF COMMUNITY 
IDENTITY
This year Council took on the running of the iconic 
Australian Hand Cane-Cutting Championships and 
First Fire events and made the move of rebranding 
them as the Sweet Days, Hot Nights Festival. The 
festival focused on the Burdekin’s enviable lifestyle 
whilst celebrating the traditions and history of 
our region. The Sweet Days, Hot Nights concept 
was designed to drive destination awareness and 
tourism in the Burdekin and it is hoped that this 
event can be built upon in coming years as an 
iconic Queensland destination event.

Home Hill’s central business district saw a 
transformation with the addition of three vibrant 
art attractions as part of a new street art trail in the 
shire. The artworks, which are in close proximity to 
the comfort stop, help to add to the unique identity 
of the area and rejuvenate and brighten the spaces.
Council’s Ayr CBD water fountain is routinely 
coloured throughout the year in support for 
various charity causes. This small gesture helps 
to raise awareness of various issues faced by our 
community members and has become a regular 
talking point for locals. 
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PROVISION OF PUBLIC SPACE
Burdekin Shire Council’s cultural venues, which 
include the Burdekin Theatre, Burdekin Memorial 
Hall and Ayr and Home Hill Libraries, have 
continued to provide public spaces to host a wide 
range of community and cultural events throughout 
the year. 

Council has monitored and maintained public 
swimming pool facilities in Ayr, Home Hill, Clare and 
Millaroo and has secured access to the Giru Pool for 
the 2017/18 financial year.

Council’s Parks and Gardens crew work year-round 
to ensure our parks, streetscapes, water fountains 
and public amenities are in excellent condition. New 
shade structures were erected at Home Hill and 
Giru Skate Parks to provide safe shaded areas for 
park-goers.

BUILD A ROBUST AND RESILIENT 
COMMUNITY
In November 2017, Council delivered a presentation 
to local businesses on business continuity at a 
business industry breakfast with the aim of assisting 
local business owners plan for disaster events. 
Council provided business continuity packs and 
provided advice to business owners about steps 
they can take to ensure their businesses are 
prepared for disaster events such as cyclones and 
floods. 

Council’s Local Disaster Management Group is 
committed to ensuring that residents of the Burdekin 
Shire are well prepared for disaster events. In 
April, Council launched the new Emergency 
Dashboard - an online portal that will function as 
a one-stop shop for emergency information during 
disasters and throughout the year. The dashboard, 
funded by Queensland Reconstruction Authority 
as part of the Get Ready Queensland program, will 
provide real-time, specific information to residents 
of the Burdekin Shire relating to emergency 
news, road closures, power outages and weather 
forecasts. Council is proud to be keeping abreast 
of communication advances that help the Burdekin 
community to build resilience against disaster 
events. 

Council also adopted a more planned approach to 
on-boarding and upskilling the volunteers who assist 
with our local disasters by providing local warden 
training to our SES members. The Area Warden 
Program provided comprehensive information for 
SES volunteers in all the major coastal and rural 
communities within the shire relating to their duties 
and responsibilities during emergency events.  
Each area warden also received an area warden 
kit including battery packs, torches, wind up radios, 
personal protective equipment and a list of relevant 
contacts for information.  

Special Guest Steve Renouf at the Family Fun & Fitness Expo
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Environment
BALANCING THE NEEDS OF THE 
COMMUNITY AND THE ENVIRONMENT
Burdekin residents joined forces in July to plant 
almost 300 trees as part of the National Tree Day 
initiative. This mammoth effort was the result of 
cooperation between Council, Lower Burdekin 
Landcare and volunteers from the community. 
Council’s Pest Management team work with 
landholders, Lower Burdekin Water, Burdekin  
Bowen Integrated Floodplain Management Advisory 
Committee (BBIFMAC) and other agencies to 
manage aquatic weeds in the Burdekin. The work 
undertaken provides a healthier ecosystem for fish, 
birds and plants as well as providing recreational 
activities for the community such as fishing, bird 
watching and boating. Improving the quality of 
our water bodies also helps to reduce negative 
impacts on the Great Barrier Reef. Council’s aquatic 
program also compliments our role as a Reef 
Guardian Council.  

The Council vector management program aims to 
reduce the impact of mosquitoes on the community. 
Sites around Ayr, Home Hill and the saltpan and 
marshes at Alva are treated regularly throughout 
the year. The summer season in the dry tropics 
is long and the pest management team work five 
days a week to reduce the mosquito numbers. The 
reduction in the number of mosquitoes is hoped to 
reduce the risk of diseases such as Ross River virus 
occurring.

In July, Council’s kerb-side bin collection services 
were transitioned to a new external contractor, 
Cleanaway.  The eight year contract will ensure that 
high level waste services are provided to residents 
with Council ensuring that performance measures 
are met by the provider. 

Council have commenced the implementation of 
a legacy landfill groundwater monitoring program.  
The program includes bi-annual sampling of 11 
ground water monitoring wells across four legacy 
landfill sites. The monitoring program will extend 
for a period of four years and will be reviewed 
after two years with data collected being analysed 
and used to develop a strategic plan for long term 
management and treatment of all existing closed 
landfill sites.

A SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT
Council have developed an environmental 
monitoring plan for the Kirknie Landfill site. The plan 
addresses groundwater, surface water and landfill 
gas issues associated with the operation of a landfill 
site and will assist Council to effectively monitor and 
manage the site. 

Council has continued to implement numerous 
Energy Efficiency Projects throughout the financial 
year following an Energy Audit in 2013/14. Energy 
Efficiency training was provided to 105 employees 
and Council installed LED lights in place of existing 
fluorescent tubes at the Young Street administration 
building, the Burdekin Theatre, the Jones Street 
Depot, the Ayr Library and the Burdekin Memorial 
Hall. 

A reflective roof coating was applied to the Council 
Administration Office, Burdekin Theatre (Foyer), 
Jones Street Depot (various buildings), Ayr Library 
and the Burdekin Memorial Hall (lower flat section). 
In addition, a 30kW solar panel installation was 
installed on the Jones Street Depot Workshop roof. 
The energy efficiency initiatives will contribute to 
electricity cost savings and reduced greenhouse gas 
emissions.

In June, Council hosted the It’s Your Reef Fest at 
Alva Beach, providing locals and visitors with the 
opportunity to celebrate the region’s connection with 
the Great Barrier Reef. The free community event 
promoted responsible recycling habits and special 
guest speaker Max Gleeson was present to launch 
his documentary about the S.S. Yongala - a historic 
shipwreck that is home to a marine life treasure just 
off our coast line.   

It’s Your Reef Fest
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Organisational Sustainability
Council has implemented numerous continuous 
improvement measures throughout the year as 
we strive for excellence in customer service and 
accountability. Council established an internal 
committee for information security to improve 
Council’s information security capability. Council 
also established an internal committee for risk 
management as part of a series of steps aimed at 
improving the approach to risk management across 
the organisation.

Council sets and achieves very high standards in 
relation to the management of its corporate records. 
All Council meeting agendas and minutes are 
prepared and published within a 10 day timeframe 
and 100% of incoming correspondence is registered 
within two days of being received. During this year, 
employees were provided with additional training 
through LearnConnect, Council’s digital online 
training platform, to improve knowledge of Council’s 
records management system and the required 
naming standards for all Council records. 

CREATE A WORKPLACE THAT IS 
REGARDED AS AN EMPLOYER OF 
CHOICE
After extensive negotiations, a new Enterprise 
Bargaining Agreement (EBA) was finalised and 
certified by the Queensland Industrial Relations 
Commission in June 2018. The new EBA simplifies 
and reduces the amount of content in the 
agreement.

Council has taken steps this financial year to ensure 
that a cost-effective, capable and skilled workforce 
is retained. Council employees now have access 
to the online eLearning platform LearnConnect.  
This has enabled Council to deliver regular Take 
5 training across the organisation in a timely and 
cost-effective manner.  Additionally, 51 professional 
development courses and 34 legislative training 
courses were provided to employees during this 
financial year. Council provided electrical safety 
awareness training to 99 staff and a further 23 
staff completed mental health awareness training. 
Council maintains a skills register for all staff and 
aims to ensure all relevant skills and qualifications 
are updated regularly. 

AN ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE THAT 
EMBRACES OUR VALUES
Council’s values are customers first, lead and 
innovate, value people, continuous improvement 
and ideas into action. 

A revised organisational structure was adopted 
by Council in November 2017 and two directors 
were appointed early in 2018 as the first step 
in implementing the structure. The revised 
structure will increase the strategic capacity of the 
organisation and help to manage the workload 
placed on operational managers.

COMMITMENT TO CONTINUOUS 
IMPROVEMENT, CUSTOMER SERVICE 
AND ACCOUNTABILITY
Council sets high targets to ensure that our 
customers receive exceptional service both 
internally and externally. Of the 6,081 formal 
requests for service, over 82% were completed 
within target and a further 14% completed outside 
of target.

STRONG ENGAGEMENT WITH THE 
COMMUNITY
Council delivers timely and meaningful information 
to the community through numerous media 
channels, social media platforms and on Council’s 
website. Weekly radio broadcasts through Radio 
Sweet FM and a weekly Council Connections page 
in the Burdekin Advocate assist Council to keep 
our community well informed. Council’s social 
media presence via various platforms is becoming 
increasingly popular and more heavily relied upon 
for instant, real-time information. Council has 
exceeded its target of 10% growth across all social 
media platforms with an average increase in social 
media following across all pages of 23% throughout 
this financial year.
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None of the outstanding administrative action 
complaints in the above table are from a previous 
financial year.
An administrative action complaint is a complaint 
that is about an administrative action of a local 
government including the following, for example:
(a)   A decision, or a failure to make a decision, 
including a failure to provide a written statement of 
reasons for a decision;
(b)   The formulation of a proposal or intention;
(c)   The making of a recommendation;
and is made by an affected person.  

An affected person is a person who is apparently 
directly affected by an administrative action of a 
local government.

Burdekin Shire Council is committed to a robust 
complaints management process which ensures the 
following:

•	 Conflicts of interest are identified and 
managed appropriately when investigating and 
responding to complaints;

•	 Staff at all levels are empowered to resolve 
issues wherever possible when they are first 
raised by the customer;

•	 The effective, transparent and timely resolution 
of complaints;

•	 Complaints are treated confidentially, and 
customers are not treated differently as a result 
of lodging genuine complaints; and

•	 Complaints are objectively reviewed to ensure 
our actions are fair and in accordance with 
legislation.

Corporate Governance

COMPLAINTS 1 JULY 2017 TO 30 JUNE 2018

Administrative 
action 

complaints

Administrative 
action 

complaints 
resolved

Administrative 
action 

complaints not 
resolved

4 3 1

Corporate Governance focuses on Council 
delivering services in the most efficient and effective 
ways whilst ensuring that there is an appropriate 
level of accountability and transparency in our 
operations. 

ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION 
COMPLAINTS

Council utilises the customer request system and 
records management system to record and track 
complaints.

Council’s complaints management policy can be 
viewed online or in person at the Council Chambers.

INTEGRITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY
Section 23 of the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 
(PSEA) requires each annual report to include 
an implementation statement giving details of 
the actions taken during the reporting period to 
comply with section 15, 21 and 22 of the PSEA. 
Implementation statements for the 2017/18 reporting 
period are as follows:

Preparation of codes of conduct (s 15) 
Burdekin Shire Council continues to utilize the 
Employee Code of Conduct which was prepared 
and signed by the CEO in 2011. The Code of 
Conduct can be viewed on the Council’s intranet site 
and is readily available for directors, supervisors, 
managers and employees.

Education and training (s 21)
Code of conduct training continues to be 
incorporated into the employee induction training for 
all new Council employees and includes information 
regarding the rights and responsibilities of all public 
service employees under the Public Sector Ethics 
Act. Council conducts regular Take 5 quizzes to 
ensure that employees are aware of and compliant 
with various requirements. 

Procedures and practices (s 22)
Several process improvements have been 
implemented during this financial year to improve 
the application of the ethics principles and values 
and ensure compliance with Council’s Employee 
Code of Conduct. 

MONITORING THROUGH INTERNAL 
AUDIT
The Local Government Act 2009 requires councils 
to provide assurance that they discharge their 
responsibilities effectively and efficiently by 
maintaining an internal audit function to review risks, 
internal controls, performance and compliance. 
The internal Audit Function completed a number of 
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internal audits and presented reports and regular 
briefings to the Audit Committee throughout the 
year. Internal Audits completed included Enterprise 
Risk Management, Statutory and Legal Obligations 
of Council and Asset Management Framework.  
The recommendations from these internal audits 
were endorsed by the Audit Committee and will be 
implemented by management over the next 12-18 
months. 

Audit Committee
Council’s Audit Committee for 2017/18 comprised:
•	 Mr Ian Jessup Independent Chairperson;
•	 Mr Jim Fahey – Independent Professional 

Member;
•	 Mr Jim Nuttall - Independent Community 

Member;
•	 Councillor John Woods; and
•	 Councillor Sue Perry.

The Committee met a total of five times during the 
financial year to review Council’s financial reporting, 
risk management and other key management 
issues. The committee received regular updates and 
presentations from the External Auditor, the Internal 
Audit Function and key Council Personnel. 

The minutes from each Audit Committee Meeting 
were provided to Council for adoption shortly after 
each meeting. 

MANAGING RISK
Council continues to implement initiatives to achieve 
the objectives of the adopted Enterprise Risk 
Management Policy which includes:

•	 Promote risk management principles as a 
strategic tool to ensure better-informed decision 
making throughout Council;

•	 Align Council activities to, and support, 
business objectives identified in Council’s 
corporate and operational plans;

•	 Maintain and improve reliability and quality of 
service provided by Burdekin Shire Council, 
within Council’s controls and capabilities;

•	 Capitalise on opportunities identified for 
Burdekin Shire Council; and

•	 Safeguard Council’s employees, contractors, 
committees, volunteers, assets, financial 
sustainability, property, reputation and 
information. 

This year, Council established a new Risk 
Management Committee charged with the oversight 
of risk management across the organisation. 

A mural by artist Sofles, located in the Ayr CBD

Artwork by Nicky Bidju-Pryor located near the Comfort Stop, Home Hill

Artwork by John Bradshaw located near the Comfort Stop, Home Hill
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LOCAL GOVERNMENT REGULATION 
2012
s 183 Financial Statements
(a)   The general purpose financial statements are 
shown on pages 44 to 67.
(b)   The current year financial sustainability 
statement is shown on page 71.
(c)   The long-term financial sustainability statement 
is shown on page 75.
(d)   The auditor-general’s audit reports about the 
general purpose financial statement and current-
year financial sustainability statement are shown on 
pages 68 to 70 and 72 to 74.

s 184 Community Financial Report
The Community Financial Report for the period is 
shown on pages 14 to 17.

s 185 Particular Resolutions
(a)   A copy of resolutions made under Section 250 
of the Local Government Act 2009.

On 12 December 2017, Council made the following 
resolution:

Recommendation
That the Council adopts the amended Councillor 
Expense Reimbursement policy as per the 
attachment to the Chief Executive Officer’s report.

Resolution
Moved Councillor Liessmann, seconded Councillor 
Bawden that the recommendation be adopted.

CARRIED

Statutory Information
This section of the report contains information which is prescribed by 
the Local Government Act 2009 and Local Government Regulation 2012 
to be disclosed in Council’s annual report for the period.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2009
s 41 Beneficial Enterprises
Council did not conduct any beneficial enterprises 
within the 2017/18 financial year.

s 45 Significant Business Activities
(a)   During the 2017/18 financial year Council 
operated the following Business Activities:
•	 Waste Collection;
•	 Water; and
•	 Sewerage.
(b)   None of the above activities satisfied the 
statutory threshold for classification as a significant 
business activity.
(c)   The competitive neutrality principle was not 
applied as Council does not have any significant 
business activities.
(d)   Council did not commence any new business 
activities within this period i.e. all the listed business 
activities were also conducted in the preceding 
financial year.

s 201 Remuneration paid to Senior 
Management Employees

(a)   The value of remuneration packages of senior 
management employees was $1,613,932.
Before organisational restructure

BAND NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYEES IN BAND

$140,001 - $240,000 7

$240,001 - $340,000 1

After organisational restructure
BAND NUMBER OF 

EMPLOYEES IN BAND
$140,001 - $240,000 9

$240,001 - $340,000 1



(b)   On 8 May 2018, in accordance with section 206(2) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, Council 
resolved to adopt a revised Non-Current Asset Policy. The policy details the classes of non-current 
physical assets and sets the amount for each different type of non-current physical asset below which the 
value of an asset of the same type must be treated as an expense. The below table, from the adopted 
Non-Current Asset Policy, details the thresholds for each asset type. 
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ASSET TYPE THRESHOLD (GST EXCLUSIVE)

Land $1

Land improvements $5,000

Buildings $5,000

Infrastructure (roads and bridges, water, sewerage) $5,000

Plant and equipment $5,000

Office equipment, furniture and fittings $5,000

All other assets (including intangible assets) $5,000

TOTAL REMUNERATION AND SUPERANNUATION CONTRIBUTIONS PAID TO COUNCILLORS

Councillor Mayor Deputy Mayor Councillor Telephone and 
data allowance

Total Council 
12% Super

Ted Bawden - - $50,767 $300 $51,067 $6,092

John Bonanno - $12,087 $40,960 $300 $53,347 $6,366

Tony Goddard - $46,510 $9,807 $300 $56,617 $6,758

Uli Liessmann - - $50,767 $300 $51,067 $6,092

Lyn McLaughlin $101,570 - $0 $0 $101,570 $12,188

Sue Perry - - $50,767 $300 $51,067 $6,092

John Woods - - $50,767 $300 $51,067 $6,092

TOTAL $101,570 $58,597 $253,835 $1,800 $415,802 $49,680

No Councillor receives a car allowance. The Mayor is provided with a vehicle for business and private use 
and the Councillors have access to a Council vehicle for business use only. Councillors have access to 
Council vehicles (including fuel provisions) for Council business such as travel to and from conferences 
and training. 

s 186 Councillors
(a)   Remuneration and superannuation payments to Councillors during 2017/18 financial year were:
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EXPENSES INCURRED BY AND FACILITIES PROVIDED TO COUNCILLORS UNDER THE 
COUNCILLOR EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT POLICY

Councillor Functions Food and 
beverages

Travel and 
Accommodation

Conference 
registration 

costs

Total

Ted Bawden $0 $40 $419 $450 $909

John Bonanno $0 $0 $0 $172 $172

Tony Goddard $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Uli Liessmann $136 $307 $2,033 $1,750 $4,226

Lyn McLaughlin $685 $393 $3,641 $2,076 $6,795

Sue Perry $0 $0 $0 $172 $172

John Woods $136 $299 $2,700 $976 $4,111

TOTAL $957 $1,039 $8,793 $5,596 $16,385

ELECTED MEMBER’S MEETING ATTENDANCES 1 JULY 2017 TO 30 JUNE 2018

Councillor Ordinary and 
Special Meetings 

held

Ordinary and 
Special Meetings 

attended

Meetings absent 
while on Council

Leave of absence

Ted Bawden 23 23 0 0

John Bonanno 23 22 0 1*

Tony Goddard 23 20 0 3

Uli Liessmann 23 21 0 2

Lyn McLaughlan 23 23 0 0

Sue Perry 23 22 0 1

John Woods 23 23 0 0

* Meeting missed due to illness

(b)   The cost of expenses incurred by, and the facilities provided to Councillors in accordance with 
Burdekin Shire Council’s Expense Reimbursement Policy in the 2017/18 financial year was as follows:

Each Councillor is provided with either a laptop computer or tablet device to be used for Council work. 
The Mayor is provided with a mobile phone which can be used for Council business and minor private 
use. Each Councillor is provided with appropriate personal protective equipment for use during Council 
inspections. 

(c)   Meeting attendances for the year were as follows:
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(d) and (e)   Orders and recommendations made during the period about misconduct or inappropriate 
conduct of Councillors.

There were no orders made under sections 180 or 181 of the Local Government Act 2009. 

(f)   Complaints about the conduct or performance of Councillors during 2017/18:
COMPLAINT TYPE LGA 

SECTION
NUMBER

Complaints for which no further action was taken (i.e. assessed as frivolous 
or vexatious)

s 176C(2) Nil

Inappropriate conduct complaints referred to Department’s CEO s 176C(3)(a)(i) Nil
Inappropriate conduct complaints referred to the Mayor s 176C(3)(a)

(ii)
Nil

Misconduct complaints referred to Department’s CEO s 176C(4)(a) Nil
Complaints of corrupt conduct under the Crime and Corruption Act 2001 s 176C(5) Nil
Complaints heard by the Regional Conduct Review Panel s176(c)(4)(b) 

& 177 (3)
Nil

Complaints heard by Local Government Remuneration and Discipline 
Tribunal

s 177 (3) Nil

Other complaints dealt with s 176C(6) Nil

s 187 Administrative Action Complaints
A report regarding implementation of Council’s Administrative Action Complaints Process is shown on page 
31.

s 188 Overseas Travel
No overseas travel was made in an official capacity during the period by any employee. 
The Mayor did travel in her official capacity as per the table below:

NAME DESTINATION COST OF 
TRAVEL

PURPOSE OTHER RELEVANT 
INFORMATION

Lyn McLaughlin Singapore $5,953 Townsville North Queensland 
Delegation - organised by 
Townsville Enterprise Limited 
(TEL) business networking and 
insight gathering.

Travel was between 4 
September 2017 and 8 
September 2017.
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•	 Register of Gifts and Benefits;
•	 Risk Register;
•	 Register of Delegations;
•	 Register of Loss of Council Assets;
•	 Council Policy Register;
•	 Register of Impounded Animals;
•	 Animal Register (Cats and Dogs);
•	 Road Map and Register;
•	 Burial Register;
•	 Register of Backflow Prevention Devices;
•	 Register of Pre-qualified Suppliers;
•	 Register of Local Laws;
•	 Register of Fees and Charges;
•	 Register of Development Applications; and
•	 Register of Decision Notices re Development 

Applications.

(g)   Council granted concessions to pensioners in 
accordance with the Council resolution made at the 
Budget Meeting on 27 June 2017 as a pensioner 
rebate. The rebate was calculated as half of the 
sum of the relevant General Rates, Water Charges 
and Sewerage Charges up to a maximum rebate 
set at $358.  
In total, Council received 877 pensioner rebate 
applications and remitted $306,290 in concessions. 
Additionally, Council provided 52 applicants from 
Not for Profit Organisations with $137,385 in rates 
and charges concessions in relation to land used 
for private schools, churches, welfare and youth 
organisations, sporting purposed and public halls, 
excluding premises licensed under the Liquor Act 
1992. 
(h)   The report on the internal audit for the year is 
shown on pages 31 to 32.
(i) and (j)   Council did not receive any investigation 
notices about competitive neutrality complaints and 
no competitive neutrality complaint reports were 
received or responses required during the period.

(b)   None of the Councillors at Burdekin Shire 
Council have discretionary funds. 

s 190 Other Matters
(a)   The assessment of our implementation of the 
Corporate Plan 2017-2022 and Operational Plan 
2017/18 is included on pages 20 to 30.
(b)   Pages 20 to 30 of this report provide a detailed 
assessment of Council’s performance for the year.
(c)   Council did not operate any commercial 
business units.
(d)   Council did not levy any special rates or 
charges for a service, facility or activity supplied by 
another local government.
(e)   Council issued one invitation to two tenderers 
to change a tender due to a change of specifications 
under section 228(7) of the Local Government 
Regulation 2012 during the period.
(f)   The following registers were kept by Council 
during the period:

•	 Register of Interest for Councillors and their 
Related Persons;

•	 Register of Interests for Senior Executive 
Employees and their Related Persons;

s 189 Expenditure on Grants to Community 
Organisations
(a)   The total summary of Cash Grants, Donations, 
Standing Donations and In-Kind Support has been 
broken into nine categories. 

CATEGORY AMOUNT

Arts and Culture $7,285

Swimming Pools $11,000

Recreation/Sport $4,136

Community Assistance $5,518

Community Development $50,800

Welfare $84,747

Surf Lifesaving $11,697

Standing Donations $136,878

In-Kind $126,318

TOTAL $438,379
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2018 2017

Note $ $

Income

Recurrent 

Rates and levies 3 (a) 38,877,353          38,032,971               

Fees and charges 3 (b) 2,244,424            2,072,065                 

Interest received 1,959,495            1,851,532                 

Sale of contract and recoverable works 1,784,248            2,025,675                 

Other recurrent income 367,696               304,752                    

Grants, subsidies and contributions 4 (a) 4,618,774            5,942,808                 

49,851,990          50,229,803               

Capital 

Grants, subsidies and contributions 4 (b) 5,838,410            5,752,897                 

Other capital income 5 95,453                 173,098                    

5,933,863            5,925,995                 

Total income 2 (b) 55,785,853          56,155,798               

Expenses 

Recurrent 

Employee benefits 6 (19,955,058)         (18,549,160)              

Materials and services 7 (14,530,959)         (13,585,353)              

Finance costs 8 (730,219)              (744,780)                   

Depreciation 15 (e) (10,838,670)         (10,192,444)              

Amortisation (263,385)              (241,607)                   

(46,318,291)         (43,313,344)              

Capital 

Other capital expenses 9 (2,320,794)           (2,718,852)                

Total expenses 2 (b) (48,639,085)         (46,032,196)              

Net result 7,146,768            10,123,602               

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 19 (a) 1,085,765            21,702,241               

Total other comprehensive income for the year 1,085,765            21,702,241               

Total comprehensive income for the year 8,232,533            31,825,843               

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL
Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2018



Burdekin Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18 | 47

2018 2017

Note $ $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11 57,224,426            48,627,807            

Cash investments 12 -                       3,000,000              

Receivables 14 (a) 3,241,481              4,636,885              

Inventories 753,530                 720,712                 

61,219,437            56,985,404            

Non-current assets held for sale 161,000                 -                       

Total current assets 61,380,437            56,985,404            

Non-current assets

Receivables 14 (b) 321,695                 186,176                 

Property, plant and equipment 15 (e) 505,374,700          501,778,177          

Intangible assets 802,303                 907,073                 

Total non-current assets 506,498,698          502,871,426          

TOTAL ASSETS 567,879,135          559,856,830          

Current liabilities

Payables 16 4,753,959              4,516,345              

Provisions 17 (a) 2,878,335              2,770,317              

Borrowings 18 1,759,020              1,675,717              

Other 950                        1,373                     

Total current liabilities 9,392,264              8,963,752              

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 17 (b) 16,347,082            15,969,070            

Borrowings 18 1,674,926              3,426,125              

Total non-current liabilities 18,022,008            19,395,195            

TOTAL LIABILITIES 27,414,272            28,358,947            

NET COMMUNITY ASSETS 540,464,863          531,497,883          

Community equity

Asset revaluation surplus 19 295,598,109          294,512,344          

Retained surplus (deficiency) 244,866,754          236,985,539          

TOTAL COMMUNITY EQUITY 540,464,863          531,497,883          

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL
Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2018
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Total Retained surplus   Asset revaluation 

(deficit) surplus

Note 19

2018 2018 2018

$ $ $

Balance at beginning of year 531,497,883           236,985,539          294,512,344          

Correction to opening balance 819,494                  734,447                 85,047                   

Restated opening balance 532,317,377 237,719,986 294,597,391

Net result 7,146,768               7,146,768              -                       

Other comprehensive income for the year

Asset revaluation surplus 1,000,718               -                       1,000,718              

Total comprehensive income for the year 8,147,486               7,146,768              1,000,718              

Balance at end of year 540,464,863           244,866,754          295,598,109          

Total Retained surplus   Asset revaluation 

(deficit) surplus

Note 19

2017 2017 2017

  $  $  $

Balance at beginning of year 499,672,040           226,861,937          272,810,103          

Net result 10,123,602             10,123,602            -                       

Other comprehensive income for the year

Asset revaluation surplus 21,702,241             -                       21,702,241            

Total comprehensive income for the year 31,825,843             10,123,602            21,702,241            

Balance at end of year 531,497,883           236,985,539          294,512,344          

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL
Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2018

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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2018 2017

Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts

Receipts from customers 47,458,314            43,965,122            

Operating grants, subsidies and contributions 4,618,774              5,942,808              

Interest received 1,918,350              1,844,727              

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees (36,973,686)           (33,612,404)           

Interest expense (241,911)                (323,227)                

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 24 16,779,841            17,817,026            

Cash flows from investing activities

Commonwealth government grants 871,044                 1,005,503              

State government subsidies and grants 4,965,643              3,585,107              

Capital contributions 1,723                     32,714                   

Payments for property, plant and equipment (15,494,188)           (12,345,099)           

Payments for intangible assets (158,615)                (136,484)                

Net transfer (to) from cash investments 12 3,000,000              (3,000,000)             

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 468,000                 531,367                 

Net movement in loans to community organisations (168,933)                (26,290)                  

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities (6,515,326)             (10,353,182)           

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings 18 (1,667,896)             (1,586,581)             

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities (1,667,896)             (1,586,581)             

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 8,596,619              5,877,263              

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 48,627,807            42,750,544            
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 11 57,224,426            48,627,807            

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 30 June 2018
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1 Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements are for the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 and have been prepared in compliance with 
the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009  and the Local Government Regulation 2012 . They comply with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are relevant to Council's 
operations and effective for the current reporting period.

Council is a not-for-profit entity and the Australian Accounting Standards include requirements for not-for-profit entities which are 
inconsistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), to the extent these inconsistencies are applied, these financial 
statements do not comply with IFRS.  The main impacts are the offsetting of revaluation and impairment gains and losses within a class 
of assets, and the timing of the recognition of non-reciprocal grant revenue.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except where stated.

(b) Date of authorisation
The financial statements are authorised for issue on the date they were submitted to the Auditor-General for signature. This is the date 
the management certificate is signed.

(c) Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards
Some Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective. Those standards have not been 
applied in these financial statements and Council will implement them when they are effective. The standards that are expected to have 
a material impact upon council's future financial statements are: 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,  AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, AASB 2016-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities.

AASB 15 will replace AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and a number of Interpretations. AASB 2016-8 provides 
Australian requirements and guidance for not-for-profit entities in applying AASB 9 and AASB 15, and AASB 1058 will replace AASB 
1004 Contributions. Together they contain a comprehensive and robust framework for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of 
income including revenue from contracts with customers.  

Council has commenced analysing the new revenue recognition requirements under these standards and is yet to form conclusions 
about significant impacts.  To date the following potential impacts have been identified: 

At 30 June 2018 Council had received pre-paid rates totalling $2,022,997 which are recognised as revenue in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  If Council had applied AASB 1058 this year these rates would have been recognised as a liability in the 
Statement of Financial Position and Council's net result would decrease by $2,022,997.

Grants that are not enforceable and/or not sufficiently specific will not qualify for deferral, and continue to be recognised as revenue as 
soon as they are controlled.  It is anticipated, assuming no change to current grant arrangements, the Financial Assistance Grants will 
continue to be recognised upfront when received.  

(d) Estimates and judgements
Where necessary, judgements, estimates and assumptions have been used in preparing these financial statements.  Those that have a 
significant effect, or risk causing an adjustment to Council's assets or liabilities relate to:

- Valuation and depreciation of property, plant and equipment - note 15
- Annual leave liability - note 16
- Provisions - note 17
- Contingent liabilities - note 22

(e) Rounding and comparatives
The financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest $1. 

(f) Taxation
Income of local authorities and public authorities is exempt from Commonwealth taxation except for Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and 
Services Tax (‘GST’) and Payroll Tax on certain activities.  The net amount of GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office 
(ATO) or payable to the ATO is shown as an asset or liability respectively. 

BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2018
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2    Analysis of results by function

(a) Components of Council functions

The activities relating to the Council's components reported on in note 2 (b).

Administration 
Deliver responsible governance, efficient service and administrative support for Council's operations and strategic initiatives. The services 
include recruitment, training and development, employee and public relations, information technology services, secretarial and minutes 
support, records management, quality assurance, Council properties management, revenue, purchasing, creditors, payroll, debtors, 
budgeting, statutory and financial reporting, debt management, taxation, and financial, asset and systems management.

Community and Cultural 
Council's community and cultural services objective is to provide a broad range of cultural, recreation and sport facilities, welfare and area 
promotion.  The services include libraries, theatre, memorial hall, art and cultural activities, recreation and sport facilities, area promotion, 
welfare, disaster management, tourism and economic development.

Development 
Development services aim to ensure all new development outcomes meet regulatory obligations including relevant Acts, the Planning 
Scheme, building codes, council policies and local laws.  Development services comprises of development administration, town planning, 
building services, plumbing and facilities management.

Environmental 
The objectives for Council's environmental services are to protect and enhance the natural environment and encourage environmental 
responsibility throughout the community.  These services include public health administration, inspection, local law enforcement, animal 
control, vector control, pest management, land protection, aquatic weed removal, protection of the environment, caravan parks and 
swimming pools. 

Engineering 
Engineering services objective is to provide safe and efficient transport networks, stormwater drainage systems, flood mitigation and 
warnings systems and a modern fleet of construction equipment and light vehicles which meet the requirements of the community, 
external stakeholders and regulatory responsibilities.  Services provided include the design, construction, management and maintenance 
of relevant infrastructure and the procurement and maintenance of Council’s fleet.  The department also manages Council’s relationship 
with Transport and Main Roads including the Road Maintenance Performance Contract.

Waste  
Waste management services aim to provide efficient and compliant waste infrastructure and services including waste receptacles, waste 
collection and disposal and waste management and education.  Council operates or facilitates four transfer stations at Ayr, Home Hill, 
Giru and Clare and a landfill at Kirknie Road, Home Hill.  Services also include the review, assessment and treatment of legacy landfills.

Sewerage  
Council provides sewerage services to the towns of Ayr, Brandon and Home Hill.  The objectives of the service is to provide disposal and 
treatment of commercial, industrial and domestic sewage in a manner which safeguards public health and is consistent with Council's 
responsibilities and obligations under Queensland legislation. The services include the collection of sewage from customers within 
Council's adopted service areas via reticulation networks including pump stations, gravity and pressure sewers, and the treatment of the 
collected waste to a standard within environmental licence parameters determined by the regulator.

Water
Council is a registered water service provider under the provisions of the Water Supply (Safety and Reliability) Act 2008 . Council 
provides potable water supply service to the towns of Ayr, Brandon, Home Hill and Giru and also to the rural residential settlement of Mt 
Kelly and the beachside settlement of Alva.  The service objective is to provide an adequate supply of quality drinking water that complies 
with aesthetic and health parameters stipulated in the Australian Drinking Water Guidelines (2011). The services include the pumping, 
treatment and disinfection of raw water prior to the reticulated supply to customers via individual metered property connections.

BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2018
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3 Revenue

(a) Rates and levies

2018 2017
$ $

General rates 26,880,108          26,414,925          
Separate rates 6,545                   6,921                   
Environmental levy 87,212                 88,191                 
Water 4,299,578            3,951,776            
Sewerage 3,953,369            3,910,888            
Garbage charges 3,956,831            3,947,362            
Rates and utility charge revenue 39,183,643          38,320,063          
Less:  Pensioner remissions (306,290)              (287,092)              

38,877,353          38,032,971          

(b) Fees and charges

2018 2017
$ $

Building and development fees 349,912               333,622               
Caravan parks 499,859               420,970               
Animal management 148,153               164,791               
Waste disposal 371,449               391,564               
Trade waste 150,629               124,071               
Cultural facilities 231,035               186,499               
Cemetery fees 138,082               151,223               
Other fees and charges 355,305               299,325               

2,244,424            2,072,065            

4 Grants, subsidies and contributions

2018 2017
$ $

(a) Recurrent
General purpose grants 3,714,446            5,164,406            
State government subsidies and grants 708,478               540,049               
Contributions 195,850               238,353               

4,618,774            5,942,808            

2018 2017
(b) Capital $ $

(i)   Monetary 
Commonwealth government grants 871,044               1,005,503            
State government subsidies and grants 4,965,643            3,585,107            
Contributions 1,723                   32,714                 

5,838,410            4,623,324            
(ii)   Non-monetary 

Developer assets contributed at fair value -                     1,129,573            
5,838,410            5,752,897            

BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2018

Capital revenue includes grants and subsidies received which are tied to specific projects for the replacement or upgrade of 
existing non-current assets and/or investment in new assets.  It also includes non-cash contributions which are usually 
infrastructure assets received from developers.

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, on the basis it meets the recognition criteria as 
indicated below.

Rates are recognised as revenue at the start of the rating period or if paid earlier they are recognised as revenue when they are 
received.

Fees and charges are recognised when Council is unconditionally entitled to those funds.  Generally this is upon lodgement of the 
relevant applications or documents or when the service is provided.

Grants, subsidies and contributions that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over 
them, which is usually upon receipt of funds.

Physical assets contributed to Council by developers in the form of roadworks, stormwater, water and wastewater infrastructure 
and park equipment are recognised as revenue when the development becomes "on Council maintenance" (i.e. the Council obtains 
control of the assets and becomes liable for any ongoing maintenance) and there is sufficient data in the form of drawings and 
plans to determine the approximate specifications and values of such assets. Non-cash contributions with a value in excess of the 
recognition thresholds are recognised at fair value as non-current assets.  Those below the threshold are recorded as expenses.

Council received pre-payments of the Financial Assistance Grant in June 2018 of $1,871,182 and June 2017 of $1,759,182. 
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BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2018

4 Grants, subsidies and contributions (continued)
(c) Conditions over grants and contributions

2018 2017
$ $

Grants for infrastructure 2,087,399            1,693,089            

2018 2017
$ $

Grants for infrastructure 1,559,493            322,867               
Contributions for infrastructure -                     15,115                 

1,559,493            337,982               

5 Capital income 2018 2017
$ $

Revision of the future restoration expenditure 95,453                 12,116                 
Discount rate adjustment to restoration provision -                     160,982               

95,453                 173,098               

6 Employee benefits Note 2018 2017
$ $

Total staff wages and salaries 15,541,687          14,717,396          
Councillors' remuneration 416,139               407,458               
Annual, sick and long service leave entitlements 3,050,585            2,725,145            
Superannuation 23 2,007,352            1,914,600            

21,015,763          19,764,599          
Other employee related expenses 518,102               516,705               

21,533,865          20,281,304          
Less capitalised employee expenses (1,578,807)           (1,732,144)           

19,955,058          18,549,160          

Total full time Equivalent Council employees at 30 June 2018 2017
Elected members 7                          7                          
Administration staff 120                      112                      
Depot and outdoors staff 124                      124                      

251                      243                      

2018 2017
$ $

Short-term employee benefits 2,021,294            1,876,465            
Post-employment benefits 221,101               206,268               
Long-term benefits 41,019                 51,907                 

2,283,414            2,134,639            
Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the annual report.

The Enterprise Bargaining agreement has been certified by the Queensland Industrial Relations Commission.  The new terms and 
conditions of the Agreement have taken effect, including a back pay component for all current employees which was paid in June 
2018.

Employee benefits include transactions with key management personnel and their close family members.  The key management 
personnel include the Mayor, Councillors, Chief Executive Officer, Directors and senior management.  These amounts, including 
accrued leave entitlements are 

Non-reciprocal grants and contributions which were recognised as revenues during the reporting period and which were obtained 
on the condition that they be expended in a manner specified by the contributor but had not been expended at the reporting date.

Councillor remuneration represents salary, and other allowances paid in respect of carrying out their duties.

Non-reciprocal grants and contributions which were recognised as revenues during a previous reporting period and were expended 
during the current reporting period.

Key management personnel compensation
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6 Employee benefits (continued)

7 Materials and services 2018 2017
$ $

Audit of annual financial statements by the Auditor-General of Queensland 78,943                 70,465                 
Contract payments 1,942,899            1,943,934            
Electricity 1,892,473            1,750,615            
Materials 1,476,183            1,430,224            
Plant hire external 2,191,494            2,177,185            
Trade/contract services 1,221,593            1,111,645            
Plant and equipment expenses 1,186,480            1,086,672            
Other material and services 4,540,894            4,014,613            

14,530,959          13,585,353          

8 Finance costs 2018 2017
$ $

Finance costs charged by the Queensland Treasury Corporation 241,911               323,227               
Bank charges 60,223                 56,056                 
Impairment of receivables and bad debts written-off 557                      1,209                   
Restoration 427,528               364,288               

730,219               744,780               

9 Capital expenses Note 2018 2017
$ $

Loss on the sale of capital assets 101,330               154,293               
Loss on write-off of capital assets 10 2,203,269            2,564,559            
Discount rate adjustment to restoration provision 16,195                 -                     

2,320,794            2,718,852            

10 Loss on write-off of capital assets Note 2018 2017
$ $

Buildings 252,970               99,908                 
Plant and Equipment 8,389                   9,353                   
Transport 1,466,322            2,285,902            
Water 122,117               60,353                 
Sewerage 196,112               74,216                 
Drainage 83,773                 5,345                   
Other Assets 73,586                 29,482                 

9 2,203,269            2,564,559            

11 Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017
$ $

Cash at bank and on hand 4,392,471            3,337,660            
Deposits at call 7,831,955            31,290,147          
Term deposits 45,000,000          14,000,000          

57,224,426          48,627,807          

Council employs 250 staff of which only 2 are close family members of key management personnel.  All close family members of 
key management personnel were employed through an arm's length process and are paid in accordance with the Award for the job 
they perform.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, all cash and cheques receipted but not banked at the year end, deposits held at 
call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Employee benefits for close family members of key management personnel for the reporting period is $176,491.
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11 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

2018 2017
 $ $
Unspent government grants and subsidies 2,141,852            1,697,271            
Unspent developer contributions 110,832               110,832               

2,252,684            1,808,103            

12 Cash investments

2018 2017
$ $

Fixed term held with AMP realisable between 3 and 12 months - unrestricted -                     3,000,000            

13 Trust funds

2018 2017
Trust funds held for outside parties $ $
Security deposits 65,575                 66,666                 

14 Receivables

2018 2017
(a) Current $ $

Rateable revenue and utility charges 1,100,664            2,131,547            
Water charges yet to be levied 816,014               668,766               
GST recoverable 272,452               306,719               
Other debtors 745,315               1,235,599            
Less impairment provision (1,604)                  (1,047)                  

2,932,841            4,341,584            
Prepayments 224,553               237,591               
Loans and advances to community organisations 84,087                 57,710                 

3,241,481            4,636,885            

2018 2017
(b) Non-current $ $

Prepayments 19,730                 26,767                 
Loans and advances to community organisations 301,965               159,409               

321,695               186,176               

In accordance with the Local Government Act 2009  and Local Government Regulation 2012 , a separate trust bank account and 
separate accounting records are maintained for funds held on behalf of outside parties. Funds held in the trust account include 
those funds from security deposits lodged to guarantee performance and deposits for hire of Council facilities paid into the trust 
account.  The Council performs only a custodian role in respect of these monies and because the monies cannot be used for 
Council purposes, they are not considered revenue nor brought to account in the financial statements.

Council's cash and cash equivalents are subject to a number of external restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary or 
future use.  These include

Term deposits in excess of three months are reported as investments, with deposits of less than three months being reported as 
cash equivalents. 

Receivables are amounts owed to Council at year end. They are recognised at the amount due at the time of sale or service 
delivery.  Settlement is required within 30 days after the invoice is issued. Debts are regularly assessed for collectability and 
allowance is made, where appropriate, for impairment.  All known bad debts were written-off at 30 June.

As Council is empowered under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2009  to sell an owner's property to recover 
outstanding rate debts, Council does not impair rate receivables. Interest is charged on outstanding rates at a rate of 11% per 
annum. No interest is charged on other debtors. There is no concentration of credit risk for rates and utility charges, fees and other 
debtors receivable.

Loans and advances are recognised in the same way as other receivables.  All loans and advances relate to loans made to various 
community organisations and are interest free.  The credit risk on these loans is considered low.
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14 Receivables (continued)

2018 2017
$ $

Not past due 2,114,030            2,378,974            
Past due      - 31 to 60 days 36,798                 27,385                 
Past due      - 61 to 90 days 11,241                 5,243                   
Past due      - Over 90 days 1,158,428            2,148,148            

3,320,497            4,559,750            
Less impaired (1,604)                  (1,047)                  

3,318,893            4,558,703            

15 Property, plant and equipment
(a) Recognition

(b) Measurement

(c) Depreciation

(d) Impairment

Ageing of past due receivables (excluding prepayments) and the amount of any impairment

All assets except for land are depreciated over their useful life using the straight line method. Land is not depreciated as it has an 
unlimited useful life. Useful lives are reviewed regularly to ensure that the economic benefits embodied in the assets are consumed 
over the period of use by Council. The condition assessments performed as part of the annual valuation process for assets 
measured at written down current replacement cost, are used to estimate the useful lives of these assets at each reporting date. 

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned 
useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate.  Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service 
potential of an asset is capitalised and the new depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset.

Council only has residual values on the plant and equipment asset class and these are determined based on estimated recovery 
value at the end of an asset's useful life.   

Property, plant and equipment assets are initially recorded at cost. Subsequently, each class of property, plant and equipment is 
stated at cost or fair value (as shown in the table 15 (e)) less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment loss.    

Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition or, in respect of constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and 
commissioned ready for use, at which time they are reclassified from work in progress to the appropriate property, plant and 
equipment class.

Property, plant and equipment is assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis.  If an indicator of impairment exists, the 
asset's recoverable amount is determined.  Any amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is 
recorded as an impairment loss.  

Major spares purchased specifically for particular assets that are above the asset recognition threshold are capitalised and 
depreciated on the same basis as the asset to which they relate.

Items of property, plant and equipment with a total value of less than $5,000 are treated as an expense in the year of acquisition.  
All other items of property, plant and equipment are capitalised.

Replacement of a major component of an asset, in order to maintain its service potential, is capitalised. However, routine operating 
maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals to maintain the operational capacity and useful life of the asset is treated as an 
expense.

A complex asset is a physical asset capable of disaggregation into significant components, which exhibit different useful lives, such 
as transport infrastructure where the components may include subgrade, pavement, seal, kerb and channelling, footpaths and 
roundabouts.

Land under the roads and reserve land which falls under the Land Act 1994  or the Land Title Act 1994  is controlled by the 
Queensland Government pursuant to the relevant legislation.  This land is not recognised in these financial statements.

Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including freight, 
design fees, architect's fees and all other establishment costs. Direct labour and materials incurred in the acquisition or construction 
of assets are treated as capital expenditure.

Property, plant and equipment received in the form of contributions, are recognised as assets and revenues at fair value.
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15 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(f) Valuation

(i) Processes

(ii) Techniques used to derive fair values
Land and Improvements (level 2 and 3)

2018 2017
Land and Improvements $ $

- Non-specialised (level 2) 2,885,779            2,944,673            
- Specialised (level 3) 11,995,778          12,511,351          

14,881,557          15,456,024          

Land fair values were comprehensively revalued by independent valuer, AssetVal Pty Ltd effective 30 June 2015. Fair value of land 
is measured at current market value, which is derived by reference to market based evidence including observable historical sales 
data for properties of similar nature and specification in the same localities.  Where there is a lack of appropriate comparable sales 
evidence, the valuation is based on the closest comparable sales in terms of the characteristics of the parcel and sales evidence.  
Council's fair value measurement is either a level 2 or 3, depending on whether the land is subject to use and/or sale restrictions 
and whether there is an active market. In the subsequent years indexation assessments supplied by AssetVal Pty Ltd have been 
applied to the asset class.   As at 31 March 2018 AssetVal Pty Ltd undertook a desktop review and advised a 2.0% decrease in 
land values which was applied to the asset class.

Council engineers, asset managers and asset officers undertake the internal valuation of infrastructure assets. The road 
component values (seal, pavement and subgrade) result from applying unit rates derived from Council's construction costs where 
there is sufficient representative samples, otherwise an index is applied based on similar construction type.  All other infrastructure 
assets are valued using a first principles methodology incorporating current plant hire and wage rates, material costs and agreed 
installation rates. Condition of these infrastructure assets is assessed by either Council staff or a contractor physically sighting a 
sample of assets or by using aged based analysis. Process guidelines, maintenance history and regular inspection reports are also 
considered.

In the intervening years, with respect to the valuation of land, buildings, other assets, bridges and specific water and sewerage 
assets, the valuers perform a "desktop" valuation.  A desktop valuation involves management providing updated information to the 
valuer regarding additions, deletions, and changes in assumptions such as useful life, residual value and condition rating. The 
valuer then determines suitable indices to apply to each of these asset classes.  Council staff assess the cost assumptions 
associated with all other infrastructure assets taking into consideration additions, deletions and changes to assumptions such as 
useful life, residual value and condition rating. 

When considering whether to apply a revaluation Council staff assess the materiality of the movement in the internal unit rates and 
relevant indices for each asset class.  

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the appropriate class of the asset revaluation 
surplus, except to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense.  A decrease in 
the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus 
of that asset class.

On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the carrying amount of the asset and any 
change in the estimate of remaining useful life. 

BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL

Council approves the valuation policies and the valuation procedures are reviewed and approved by the Asset Management Group 
which consists of key stakeholders. The valuation procedures are reviewed annually taking into consideration an analysis of 
movements in fair value and other relevant information.  

      -  Fair value based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (level 1)
      -  Fair value based on inputs that are directly or indirectly observable, such as prices for similar assets, for the asset (level 2)
      -  Fair value based on unobservable inputs for the asset (level 3)

In accordance with AASB 13 fair value measurements for assets are categorised on the following basis:

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued, where required, so that the carrying amount of each class of 
asset does not materially differ from its fair value at the reporting date. This is achieved by engaging independent, professionally 
qualified valuers to determine the fair value for buildings, land, bridges, other assets and specific water and sewerage assets at 
least once every 3-5 years.  This process involves the valuer physically sighting these assets and making their own assessments 
of the condition of the assets at the date of inspection.

Council's policy is to recognise transfers in and out of the fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting period. There 
were no transfers between the levels during the year.
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15 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Buildings (level 2 and 3)

2018 2017
Buildings $ $

- Non-specialised (level 2) 1,081,002            1,101,592            
- Specialised (level 3) 39,378,256          38,717,320          

40,459,258          39,818,912          

Infrastructure assets (level 3)

Transport Infrastructure
Roads

Bridges

Drainage infrastructure

A comprehensive revaluation of bridge assets was undertaken by independent valuers, AssetVal Pty Ltd, effective 31 December 
2017.  Each bridge was assessed individually, with the valuation varying according to the material type used for construction, the 
deck area, condition and size.  AssetVal Pty Ltd construction estimates considered raw materials, plant, labour and oncosts.  
These were applied to the known measurements of the assets to calculate the current replacement cost.  The raw cost of material, 
as well as plant and labour hire rates, were established either through suppliers, quoted prices, or cost guides (e.g. Australian 
Rawlinsons Construction Handbook). Oncosts were established using industry standards which were then tailored to suit Council.

A full valuation of drainage infrastructure was undertaken internally by Council, effective 30 June 2015. Drainage assets are 
managed by component including segments of conduit, pits, manholes and channels.  In the subsequent years unit rate reviews 
and desktop conditioning were undertaken. A full review of unit rates was undertaken internally by Council staff as at 31 March 
2018 as well as a desktop review of condition. The review of unit rates has resulted in an increase to cost of 4.16%.

Council categorises its road infrastructure into sealed and unsealed roads. All roads are segmented at intersections or other 
factors including surfacing type or change in width.  All road segments are then componentised into subgrade, pavement, and seal 
(where applicable). Council assumes that environmental factors such as soil type, climate and topography are consistent across 
each segment. Council also assumes a segment is designed and constructed to the same standard and uses a consistent amount 
of labour and materials.

CRC was calculated by reference to asset linear and area specifications, estimated labour and material inputs, services costs and 
overhead allocations. Council assumes that pavements for all traffic areas are constructed to a depth of either 150mm or 250mm 
as recorded in the asset register. Council also assumes that all raw materials can be sourced from local suppliers.

In 2015, Infrastructure Management Group Pty Ltd undertook a full condition survey of Council's roads.  In the subsequent years 
desktop reviews of condition were undertaken by Council staff. Full unit rate reviews have also been undertaken in the subsequent 
years which have been applied across the asset class.  Council staff have undertaken a full review of unit rates and a desktop 
review of condition as at 31 March 2018. This has shown no significant material change to the fair value and as a result of this no 
indexation has been applied. 

The fair value of buildings were comprehensively revalued by independent valuer, AssetVal Pty Ltd effective 30 June 2015. In the 
subsequent years the valuers provide an indexation assessment based on inputs from producer price data, construction indices 
and recent construction cost guides. The cumulative increase in building costs of 6.29% was applied to the asset class in the 
2016/17 financial year.  As at 31 March 2018 AssetVal Pty Ltd advised a 2.2% increase in building costs which was applied.

All Council infrastructure assets consisting of Transport, Drainage, Water, Sewerage and Other Assets are recorded at fair value 
using written down current replacement cost. This valuation comprises the asset's current replacement cost (CRC) less 
accumulated depreciation calculated to reflect the already consumed or expired future economic benefits of the asset. Council first 
determined the gross cost of replacing the full service potential of the asset and then adjusted this amount to take account of the 
expired service potential of the asset.

CRC was measured by reference to the average cost at which the gross future economic benefits of the asset could currently be 
obtained in the normal course of business. Where existing assets were over designed, had excess capacity, or were redundant an 
adjustment was made so that the resulting valuation reflected the cost of replacing the existing economic benefits based on an 
efficient set of modern equivalent assets to achieve the required level of service output within the Council's planning horizon.

The unit rates (labour and materials) and quantities applied to determine the CRC of an asset or asset component were based on 
a "Greenfield" assumption meaning that the CRC was determined as the full cost of replacement with a new asset including 
components that may not need to be replaced, such as earthworks. The fair value was determined using methods relevant to the 
asset class as described under individual asset categories below.
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15 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Water and sewerage infrastructure

Other assets 

Sensitivity of valuation to unobservable inputs

16 Payables

2018 2017
Current $ $

Creditors and accruals 2,512,921            2,381,741            
Annual leave 2,241,038            2,134,604            

4,753,959            4,516,345            

17 Provisions
Long service leave

Council assumes that environmental factors such as soil type, climate and topography are consistent across each segment and 
that a segment is designed and constructed to the same standard and uses a consistent amount of labour and materials. Where 
drainage assets are located underground and physical inspection is not possible, the age, size and type of construction material, 
together with current and planned maintenance records are used to determine the fair value at reporting date. 

Council's assets that are valued using written down CRC utilise a number of inputs into the valuation methodology.  These inputs 
require judgement and are therefore classed as unobservable.  The use of different judgements could result in a different 
valuation.

Liabilities are recognised for employee benefits such as wages and salaries and annual leave in respect of services provided by 
the employees up to the reporting date. The liability is calculated using the present value of remuneration rates that will be paid 
when the liability is expected to be settled and includes related oncosts.

Creditors and accruals are anticipated to be paid within one year except for contract retentions of $41,106 which will be paid out 
within two years.  

A full revaluation of water and sewerage infrastructure fair value was determined by a combination of independent valuers, 
AssetVal Pty Ltd and internal valuations effective 30 June 2015. AssetVal Pty Ltd undertook a valuation of specific water assets 
(inc. boreholes, buildings, elevated storage, pumps, telemetry, aerator, chlorination equipment) and sewerage assets (inc. 
treatment plants, buildings, pump stations).  The remaining water and sewerage assets CRC were determined by management. 
The value of sewers was compared with current reline costs and the higher of the two values was adopted as the replacement unit 
rate.  

A desktop review was undertaken as at 31 March 2018 by AssetVal Pty Ltd on specific water and sewerage assets.  The 
remaining water and sewerage assets were internally reviewed by Council staff for changes to condition together with a review of 
unit rates. The following change to cost - water 2.44% and sewerage 1.39% has been applied this year.

Other Assets were comprehensively revalued by independent valuer, AssetVal Pty Ltd effective 30 June 2015.  Where Council's 
other assets are specialised in nature the valuation has been undertaken using the written down current replacement cost 
methodology.  AssetVal Pty Ltd undertook a desktop review of the fair values of Other Assets as at 31 March 2018 and advised a 
4.0% increase for civil construction costs for the current year which was applied across the asset class. 

As Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the annual leave beyond twelve months after the reporting 
date, annual leave is classified as a current liability. The portion estimated to be payable later than one year is $468,872.

Creditors are recognised when goods or services are received, at the amount owed.  Amounts owing are unsecured and are 
generally settled on 30 day terms.

The provision for long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The liability is calculated using current pay rates and projected future 
increases in those rates and includes related employee oncosts. The estimates are adjusted for the probability of the employee 
remaining in the Council's employment or other associated employment which would result in the Council being required to meet 
the liability.  Adjustments are then made to allow for the proportion of the benefit earned to date, and the result is discounted to 
present value. The interest rates attaching to Commonwealth Government guaranteed securities at the reporting date are used to 
discount the estimated future cash outflows to their present value.

Where employees have met the prerequisite length of service and Council does not have an unconditional right to defer this liability 
beyond 12 months long service leave is classified as a current liability. Otherwise it is classified as non-current.
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17 Provisions (continued)
Restoration

Note 2018 2017
(a) Current $ $

Long service leave 2,878,335            2,770,317            

(b) Non-current
Long service leave 265,737               290,387               
Restoration 16,081,345          15,678,683          

16,347,082          15,969,070          

(c) Details of movements in provisions
Long service leave

Balance at beginning of the year 3,060,704            2,846,089            
Amount provided for in the year 474,566               456,074               
Amount paid in the year (391,198)              (241,459)              

3,144,072            3,060,704            

Restoration
Balance at beginning of the year 15,678,683          17,220,733          
Increase due to change in time 8 427,528               364,288               
Increase (decrease) due to change in discount rate 296,758               (1,089,392)           
Increase (decrease) in estimate of future cost (321,624)              (816,946)              

16,081,345          15,678,683          

18 Borrowings

Borrowings at balance date are
2018 2017

Queensland Treasury Corporation $ $
Balance at beginning of the year 5,101,842            6,688,423            
Principal repayments (1,667,896)           (1,586,581)           
Book value at end of the year 3,433,946            5,101,842            

Classified as
Current 1,759,020            1,675,717            
Non-current 1,674,926            3,426,125            
Carrying amount 3,433,946            5,101,842            

Unsecured borrowings are provided by the Queensland Treasury Corporation.

All borrowings are in $A denominated amounts and carried at amortised cost, interest being expensed as it accrues.  No interest 
has been capitalised during the current or comparative reporting period.  Principal and interest repayments are made quarterly in 
arrears. There have been no defaults or breaches of the loan agreement during this period. Expected final repayment dates vary 
from 15 June 2019 to 15 September 2020.

Council adopts an annual debt policy that sets out Council's planned borrowings for the next nine years.  Council's current policy is 
to only borrow for capital projects and for a term no longer than the expected life of the asset.  

Council was required as part of the condition of receiving capital grant funds of $1,050,000 from the Department of Communities to 
mortgage as security a parcel of freehold land and improvements.  It is not envisaged that Council will breach the contract.

A provision is made for the cost of restoring refuse dumps where it is probable the Council will be liable, or required, to do this 
when the use of the facilities is complete.

The provision for refuse restoration is calculated as the present value of anticipated future costs associated with the closure and 
decontamination of these sites. The calculation of this provision requires assumptions such as application of environmental 
legislation, site closure dates, available technologies and engineering cost estimates. These uncertainties may result in future 
actual expenditure differing from amounts currently provided. Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the most significant 
uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will be incurred. The provision recognised for refuse sites is reviewed at 
least annually and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Management estimates that the open site 
will close in 2030 with a projected cost of $15,046,122. The remaining closed sites are estimated to be remediated between 2020 
and 2025 with projected cost of $5,376,632.

Where refuse sites are on state reserve land which the Council does not control, the provision for restoration is treated as an 
expense in the year the provision is first recognised. Changes in the provision thereafter are treated as an expense or income.

This is the present value of the estimated future cost of restoring the refuse sites under the State Government environmental 
regulations at the end of its useful life.
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18 Borrowings (continued)

2018 2017
$ $

0 to 1 year 1,909,807            1,909,806            
1 to 5 years 1,752,265            3,662,072            

3,662,072            5,571,878            

19 Asset revaluation surplus

Note 2018 2017
(a) Movements in the asset revaluation surplus $ $

Balance at beginning of the year 294,512,344        272,810,103        
Correction to Opening Balance 85,047                 -                     

Restated Opening Balance 294,597,391        272,810,103        
Adjustments to the property, plant and equipment through revaluations 15 (e) 1,055,110            19,969,001          
Adjustment to land and improvements arising from change in rehabilitation costs (54,392)                1,733,240            

Balance at end of the year 295,598,109        294,512,344        

2018 2017
(b) Asset revaluation surplus analysis $ $

The closing balance is comprised of the following asset categories
Land and Improvements 2,649,517            3,038,429            
Buildings 25,869,688          25,154,472          
Transport 210,365,629        211,955,597        
Water 11,241,967          10,962,473          
Sewerage 25,411,828          25,106,978          
Drainage 12,151,482          10,952,683          
Other Assets 7,907,998            7,341,712            

295,598,109        294,512,344        

20 Commitments for expenditure 2018 2017
(a) Contractual commitments $ $

Contractual commitments at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements
Service contracts over next 1 to 9 years 8,315,915            9,995,163            

2018 2017
(b) Capital commitments $ $

Buildings and software -                     477,754               
Infrastructure 1,560,376            599,990               
Payable not later than 1 year 1,560,376            1,077,744            

21 Events after balance date

The following sets out the liquidity risk in relation to the above borrowings and represents the remaining contractual cash flows 
(principal and interest) at the end of the reporting period.

Commitment for the construction of the following assets contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities

There were no material financial adjusting events after balance date.

The loan market value at the reporting date was $3,565,897 This represents the value of the debt if Council repaid it at that date. 
As it is the intention of Council to hold the debt for its term, no provision is required to be made in these accounts.

The contractual outflows are not expected to occur significantly earlier and are not expected to be for significantly different amounts 
than indicated.

The asset revaluation surplus comprises adjustments relating to changes in value of property, plant and equipment that do not 
result from the use of those assets.  Net incremental changes in the carrying value of classes of non-current assets since their 
initial recognition are accumulated in the asset revaluation surplus. Increases and decreases on revaluation are offset within a 
class of assets.

Where a class of assets is decreased on revaluation, that decrease is offset first against the amount remaining in the asset 
revaluation surplus in respect of that class.  Any excess is treated as an expense.

When an asset is disposed of, the amount reported in surplus in respect of that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus 
and not transferred to retained surplus.



64 | Burdekin Shire Council Annual Report 2017/18

BURDEKIN SHIRE COUNCIL
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2018

22 Contingent liabilities
Local government workcare

Local government mutual

23 Superannuation

Note 2018 2017
$ $

Superannuation contributions made to the Regional Defined Benefits Fund 184,357               197,771               
Other superannuation contributions for employees 1,822,995            1,716,829            

6 2,007,352            1,914,600            

Contributions Council expects to make to the Regional Defined Benefits Fund for the 2019 Financial Year are $168,289.

The most significant risks that may result in LGIAsuper increasing the contribution rate, on the advice of the actuary, are:
-  Investment risk - The risk that the scheme's investment returns will be lower than assumed and additional contributions are 
needed to fund the shortfall.

Any amount by which the scheme is over or under funded may affect future benefits and result in a change to the contribution rate, 
but has not been recognised as an asset or liability of the Council.

Technically Council can be liable to the scheme for a portion of another local government's obligations should that local 
government be unable to meet them.  However the risk of this occurring is extremely low and in accordance with the LGIAsuper 
trust deed changes to council's obligations will only be made on the advice of an actuary.

Council is a member of the local government mutual liability self-insurance pool, LGM Queensland. In the event of the pool being 
wound up or it is unable to meet its debts as they fall due, the trust deed and rules provide that any accumulated deficit will be met 
by the individual pool members in the same proportion as their contribution is to the total pool contributions in respect to any year 
that a deficit arises. 

Council is a member of the Queensland local government workers compensation self-insurance scheme, Local Government 
Workcare. Under this scheme the Council has provided a bank guarantee to cover bad debts which may remain should the self 
insurance licence be cancelled and there was insufficient funds available to cover outstanding liabilities. Only the Queensland 
Government's workers compensation authority may call on any part of the guarantee should the above circumstances arise. 
Council's maximum exposure to the bank guarantee is $299,490.

The scheme is a defined benefit plan, however Council is not able to account for it as a defined benefit plan in accordance with 
AASB119 because LGIAsuper is unable to account for its proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, plan assets and 
costs.

Council contributes to the LGIAsuper Regional Defined Benefits Fund (the scheme), at the rate of 12% for each permanent 
employee who is a defined benefit member.  This rate is set in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed and may be varied on 
the advice of an actuary. The Regional Defined Benefits Fund is a complying superannuation scheme for the purpose of the 
Commonwealth Superannuation Industry (Supervision) legislation and is also governed by the Local Government Act 2009.

Council's Chief Executive Officer is a board member of Local Government Workcare and Local Government Mutual.  These two 
entities are considered related parties to Council.

As at 30 June 2017 the financial statements reported an accumulated surplus and it is not anticipated any liability will arise.

The last completed actuarial assessment of the scheme was undertaken as at 1 July 2015.  The actuary indicated that "At the 
valuation date of 1 July 2015, the net assets of the scheme exceeded the vested benefits and the scheme was in a satisfactory 
financial position as at the valuation date."  The Council is not aware of anything that has happened since that time that indicates 
the assets of the scheme are not sufficient to meet the vested benefits, as at the reporting date.

No changes have been made to prescribed employer contributions which remain at 12% of employee assets and there are no 
known requirements to change the rate of contributions.

Another actuarial investigation is being conducted as at 1 July 2018.  At the time of signing these financial statements this 
investigation is still in progress.

-  Salary growth risk - The risk that wages or salaries will rise more rapidly than assumed, increasing vested benefits to be 
funded.

There are currently 63 entities contributing to the scheme and any changes in contribution rates would apply equally to all 63 
entities. Council made less than 4% of the total contributions to the plan in the 2017-18 financial year.
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24

Note 2018 2017
$ $

Net result 7,146,768            10,123,602          
Non-cash operating items

Impairment of receivables and bad debts written-off 8 557                      1,209                   
Depreciation 15 (e) 10,838,670          10,192,444          
Amortisation 263,385               241,607               
Change in restoration provisions expensed to finance costs 8 427,528               364,288               

11,530,140          10,799,548          

Investing and development activities
Capital grants, subsidies and contributions 4 (b) (5,838,410)           (5,752,897)           
Capital income 5 (95,453)                (173,098)              
Capital expenses 9 2,320,794            2,718,852            

(3,613,069)           (3,207,143)           
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase) decrease in receivables 1,408,186            (801,621)              
(Increase) decrease in inventories (excluding land) (32,818)                (42,970)                
Increase (decrease) in payables 257,689               729,622               
Increase (decrease) in provisions 83,368                 214,615               
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (423)                     1,373                   

1,716,002            101,019               
Net cash inflow from operating activities 16,779,841          17,817,026          

25
(a) Subsidiaries
Council did not have any subsidiaries during the financial year.

26
Financial assets and financial liabilities

Credit risk

(b) Transactions with related parties that have not been disclosed
Most of the entities and people that are related parties of Council live and operate within the Shire.  Therefore, on a regular basis 
ordinary citizen transactions occur between Council and its related parties. Some examples include payment of rates, animal 
registration, use of council facilities e.g. library, theatre, swimming pools.

Council has not included these types of transactions in its disclosure, where they are made on the same terms and conditions 
available to the general public.

Council has exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks arising from financial instruments.

Financial instruments

Council is responsible for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework, together with developing and 
monitoring risk management policies. Council's management approves policies for overall risk management, as well as specifically 
for managing credit, liquidity and market risk. 

The Council's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced, to set appropriate limits and 
controls and to monitor these risks and adherence against limits. The Council aims to manage volatility to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the financial performance of the Council. Council does not enter into derivatives.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. These 
obligations arise principally from the Council's investments and receivables from customers.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of credit counterparty ability to meet payment obligations. The carrying 
amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Investments in financial instruments are required to be made with Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) or similar 
State/Commonwealth bodies or financial institutions in Australia, in line with the requirements of the Statutory Bodies Financial 
Arrangements Act 1982.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is based on the carrying amounts of financial assets at the end of the reporting period as 
disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position.

Transactions with related parties

Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities
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26
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash investments

Receivables

Liquidity risk

Market risk

Interest rate risk

Financial instruments (continued)

By the nature of the Council's operations, there is a geographical concentration of risk in the Council's area.  As the area is largely 
agricultural, there is also a concentration in the agricultural sector.

Note 14 provides details of the ageing of past due receivables (excluding prepayments) and the amount of any impairment.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the Council's income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments.

The Council is exposed to interest rate risk through investments with QTC and other financial institutions. Council has access to a 
mix of variable and fixed rate funding options through QTC and other financial institutions so that interest rate risk exposure can be 
minimised.

Other investments are held with financial institutions and whilst not capital guaranteed, the likelihood of a credit failure is assessed 
as remote.

In the case of rate receivables, the Council has the power to sell the property to recover any defaulted amounts.  In effect this 
power protects the Council against credit risk in the case of defaults.

In other cases, the Council assesses the credit risk before providing goods, or services and applies normal business credit 
protection procedures to minimise the risk.

The Council may be exposed to credit risk through its investments in the QTC Cash Fund and deposits held with banks and other 
financial institutions. The QTC Cash Fund is an asset management portfolio that invests with a wide range of high credit rated 
counterparties. Deposits with the QTC Cash Fund are capital guaranteed. 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Council will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that 
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

The Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its normal course of business and through its borrowings with QTC. The Council 
manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits, both short and long term, to cater for unexpected 
volatility in cash flows.

The Council does not have any overdraft facilities at the reporting date.

Note 18 sets out the liquidity risk in relation to Council's borrowings.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Councillors of Burdekin Shire Council 

Report on the audit of the financial report 
Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of Burdekin Shire Council (the Council). 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the Council’s financial position as at 30 June 2018, and of 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

b) complies with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation 2012 
and Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the management certificate given 
by the Mayor and the Chief Executive Officer. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of my report. 

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code 
and the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Other information 

Other information comprises the information included in the Burdekin Shire Council annual 
report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the financial report and my 
auditor’s report thereon. At the date of this auditor’s report, the other information was the 
current year financial sustainability statement and long-term financial sustainability 
statement. 

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. However, as required by the Local 
Government Regulation 2012, I have expressed a separate opinion on the current year 
financial sustainability statement. 
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In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Council for the financial report 

The Council is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation 
2012 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the Council 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The Council is also responsible for assessing the Council's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the Council or to otherwise cease 
operations of the Council.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Council's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Council. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Council's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my 
conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Council to cease to continue as a 
going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Council to express an opinion on the financial 
report. I am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of 
the Council. I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion. 

I communicate with the Council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  
In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2018: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required. 

b) In my opinion, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping 
of accounts were complied with in all material respects. 

 
 
 

4 October 2018 
 
Sri Narasimhan  Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Councillors of Burdekin Shire Council 

Report on the Current Year Financial Sustainability Statement 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying current year statement of financial sustainability of 
Burdekin Shire Council for the year ended 30 June 2018 comprising the statement, 
explanatory notes, and the certificate of accuracy given by the Mayor and the Chief 
Executive Officer. 

In accordance with section 212 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, in my opinion, in 
all material respects, the current year financial sustainability statement of 
Burdekin Shire Council for the year ended 30 June 2018 has been accurately calculated. 

Basis of opinion  

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
current year financial sustainability statement section of my report.  

I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the statement in 
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code 
and the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Emphasis of matter – basis of accounting 

I draw attention to Note 1 which describes the basis of accounting. The current year financial 
sustainability statement has been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 
(Sustainability) Guideline 2013 for the purpose of fulfilling the council’s reporting 
responsibilities under the Local Government Regulation 2012. As a result, the statement 
may not be suitable for another purpose. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Information 

Other information comprises the information included in Burdekin Shire Council’s annual 
report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the current year financial 
sustainability statement and my auditor’s report thereon. At the date of this auditor’s report, 
the other information was the general purpose financial statements and the long-term 
financial sustainability statement. 

My opinion on the current year financial sustainability statement does not cover the other 
information and accordingly I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
However, as required by the Local Government Regulation 2012, I have expressed a 
separate opinion on the general purpose financial report. 
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In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the council for the current year financial sustainability statement 

The council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the current year 
financial sustainability statement in accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012. 
The council’s responsibility also includes such internal control as the council determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the statement that is accurately 
calculated and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the current year financial sustainability 
statement 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the current year financial 
sustainability statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this statement.  

My responsibility does not extend to forming an opinion on the appropriateness or relevance 
of the reported ratios, nor on the council’s future sustainability. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the statement, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the council. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the statement, including the 
disclosures, and whether the statement represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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I communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

4 October 2018 

 

Sri Narasimhan Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General  Brisbane 
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5.3 Q1 Report - Operational Plan 2018/2019  
 
Document Information 

Referring Letter No:   N/A  
 
File No:   418 
 
Name of Applicant: N/A 
 
Location:  N/A 
 
Author and Title: Rebecca Stockdale – Executive Officer 
 
 
Executive Summary 

The Q1 Report for the Operational Plan 2018/2019 provides a fair representation of Council’s 
performance during the period 1 July 2018 to 30 September 2018.  The Operational Plan 
sets out the agreed activities for each section and department of Council and includes 
measurement statements and targets for each activity.  Comments have been provided 
against each activity to reflect the progress towards achieving the activity within the first 
quarter. Of the 222 agreed activities within the Operational Plan, 157 activities are meeting or 
above target with 38 activities progressing.  23 activities are “inactive” or not yet due to 
commence and a further four activities are under target.  The comments provided against 
each activity provide further clarification and detail pertaining to the activity.  
 
At the end of first quarter: 

– 157 activities meeting or above target 
– 38 Progressing 
– 23 Inactive 
– 4 Under Target 

 
 

 
 
 

Recommendation 

That Council adopts 
the Q1 Report for the 

Operational Plan 
2018/2019 as 
attached to this 
report. 
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Background Information 

Council is required to prepare and adopt an annual operational plan.  The CEO must provide 
quarterly written assessments of the local government’s progress towards implementing the 
annual operational plan.  
 
Link to Corporate/Operational Plan 

5.3.3 Adhere to the governance framework and public reporting systems 
 
Consultation 

All managers and other relevant supervisors and officers were required to provide information 
for the Q1 Report.  The Q1 Report was discussed with Council at a workshop on 16 October 
2018. 
 
Legal Authority or Implications 

Section 174 Local Government Regulation 2012 
 
174 Preparation and adoption of annual operational plan 
 
(1) A local government must prepare and adopt an annual operational plan for each financial 
year. 
(2) The local government may, but need not, adopt the annual operation plan for a financial 
year at the same time the local government adopts its budget for the financial year. 
(3) The chief executive officer must present a written assessment of the local government’s 
progress towards implementing the annual operational plan at meetings of the local 
government held at regular intervals of not more than 3 months. 
(4) A local government may, by resolution, amend its annual operational plan at any time 
before the end of the financial year. 
(5) A local government must discharge its responsibilities in a way that is consistent with its 
annual operational plan. 
 
Policy Implications 

N/A 
 
Financial and Resource Implications 

Activities within the Operational Plan must be discharged in accordance with Council’s 
adopted budget. 
 
Report prepared by: 
Rebecca Stockdale - Executive Officer 
 
Report authorised by: 
Nick O’Connor - Director Corporate and Community Services 
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Attachments 

1. Q1 Report – Operational Plan 2018/2019 
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5.4 Revised Audit Committee Charter  
 
Document Information 

Referring Letter No:   N/A  
 
File No:   388 
 
Name of Applicant: N/A 
 
Location:  N/A 
 
Author and Title: Rebecca Stockdale – Executive Officer 
 
 
Executive Summary 

The Local Government Act 2009 requires Council to establish an audit committee.  The Audit 
Committee plays an advisory role and offers independent assurance regarding the integrity of 
Council’s financial documents, the internal audit function and risk management framework.  
The Audit Committee has recently conducted a review of the Audit Committee Charter with 
consideration to the change to an external contractor for the provision of internal audit 
services.  The previous charter referenced the Quality and Safety Coordinator.  As this 
position is no longer responsible for the internal audit function, the appropriate amendments 
have been made to the charter.  The Charter is now presented to Council for formal adoption. 
 
Recommendation 

That Council adopts the revised Audit Committee Charter 2018 as attached to this report.  
 
Background Information 

Council last reviewed and updated the Audit Committee Charter in February 2018 to improve 
succession planning provisions, remove prohibitive clause excluding past employees or 
elected members from being eligible for membership, and improve the provisions relating to 
the approval of the audit committee meeting minutes. The revised charter is largely 
unchanged.  The non-voting attendees list has been updated to add in the two new directors 
and appropriate amendments have been made to reflect Council’s move to engaging an 
external contractor for the internal audit function.  
 
Link to Corporate/Operational Plan 

5.3.1 Demonstrate open and transparent leadership 
5.3.2 Ensure Council’s financial position is effectively managed 
5.3.3 Adhere to the governance framework and public reporting systems 
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Consultation 

Council’s Audit Committee discussed the proposed amendments at the audit committee 
meeting on 3 October 2018. 
 
Legal Authority or Implications 

Local Government Act 2009 
105 Auditing, including internal auditing 
(1) Each local government must establish an efficient and effective internal audit function. 
(2) Each large local government must also establish an audit committee. 
(3) A large local government is a local government that belongs to a class prescribed under a 
regulation. 
(4) An audit committee is a committee that— 
 (a) monitors and reviews— 
  (i) the integrity of financial documents; and 
  (ii) the internal audit function; and 
  (iii) the effectiveness and objectivity of the local government’s internal auditors; and 

 (b) makes recommendations to the local government about any matters that the audit 
committee considers need action or improvement. 

 
Policy Implications 

N/A 
 
Financial and Resource Implications 

N/A 
 
Report prepared by: 
Rebecca Stockdale – Executive Officer 
 
Report authorised by: 
Nick O’Connor – Director Corporate and Community Services 
 
Attachments 

1. Revised Audit Committee Charter 2018 
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5.5 Trustee Lease Arrangements - Lot 8 on CP910254 - Reserve for Recreation R53 - 
Rugby Park, Ayr  

 
Document Information 

Referring Letter No:   N/A  
 
File No:   179, 1720, 1762 
 
Name of Applicant: Burdekin Rugby League Inc; Burdekin Junior Rugby League Football 

Club Inc; Burdekin Touch Association Inc 
 
Location:  Lot 8 on Crown Plan 910254 
 (Reserve for Recreation R53) 
 
Author and Title: Vicki Walker – Governance and Property Officer 
 
 
Executive Summary 

Council is requested to consider approval of: 
 
1. Surrender of the joint Trustee Lease between Burdekin Junior Rugby League Inc and 

Lower Burdekin Hockey Association Inc over part Lot 8 on Crown Plan 910254 (Reserve 
for Recreation R53); 

 
2. Issue of a joint Trustee Lease between Burdekin Rugby League Inc and Burdekin Junior 

Rugby League Football Club Inc over part Lot 8 on Crown Plan 910254 (Reserve for 
Recreation R53); 
 

Issue of a new Trustee Lease to Burdekin Touch Association Inc over part Lot 8 on Crown 
Plan 910254 (Reserve for Recreation R53) for the erection of new lighting. 
 
Recommendation 

That under Section 57 (1) of the Land Act 1994 Council approves: 
 
1. Surrender of the joint Trustee Lease between Burdekin Junior Rugby League Inc and 

Lower Burdekin Hockey Association Inc over part Lot 8 on Crown Plan 910254 (Reserve 
for Recreation R53); 

 
2. Issue of a joint Trustee Lease between Burdekin Rugby League Inc and Burdekin Junior 

Rugby League Football Club Inc over part Lot 8 on Crown Plan 910254 (Reserve for 
Recreation R53);   
 

3. Issue of a new Trustee Lease to Burdekin Touch Association Inc over part Lot 8 on Crown 
Plan 910254 (Reserve for Recreation R53) for the erection of new lighting, 

 
noting that the Trustee Leases will be for a term of 20 years and subject to the usual terms 
and conditions set by the Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy and Council;  
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and the inclusion of clauses to the joint Burdekin Rugby League Inc/Burdekin Junior Rugby 
League Football Club Inc lease to ensure Lower Burdekin Hockey Association Inc will have 
the use of the existing ”hockey” building for storage purposes and use of the grounds once a 
year for their carnival. 
 
Background Information 

Joint Trustee Lease – Burdekin Rugby League Inc and Burdekin Junior Rugby League 
Football Club 
 
Burdekin Rugby League Inc leases reserve land on the corner of Mackenzie and Wickham 
Streets, Ayr (about 24428 m2) described as Lease C on Part Lot 8 on CP910254.  (Rugby 
Park, Ayr)  
 
Burdekin Junior Rugby League Football Club Inc leases part of the same reserve (about 
11387m2) described as Lease E on Part Lot 8 on CP910254.  
 
Both of these trustee leases have been in effect since 1997 and expired on 17 December 
2017.  
 
Burdekin Junior Rugby League also has a joint lease over part of the reserve (Lease D) with 
Lower Burdekin Hockey Association Inc which has been in place since February 2012.  
(About 16226m2) 
 
Following extensive negotiations between Junior Rugby League and Lower Burdekin Hockey 
which culminated in a meeting with Council representatives and the Mayor, Hockey 
representatives agreed to surrender the joint lease to enable Burdekin Junior Rugby League 
Football Club and Burdekin Rugby League to take over the lease of the whole area with the 
exception of a small area required by the Burdekin Touch Association for the erection of new 
lighting. (In accordance with Queensland Rugby League requirements, the senior and junior 
rugby league clubs will amalgamate by 2020). 
 
In response to the Lower Burdekin Hockey Association’s concerns in relation to losing their 
storage facility and the use of the grounds for their annual carnival, it was agreed to include 
appropriate clauses in the lease to ensure the association would still have use of the building 
and the grounds for these purposes. 
 
Trustee Lease – Burdekin Touch Association 
 
Burdekin Touch Association has negotiated this Trustee Lease with Burdekin Junior Rugby 
League for the purpose of erecting new lighting which will benefit both clubs.  Burdekin Touch 
Association holds the adjoining Trustee lease – Lease J over part Lot 91 on GS980.  The 
area of the new lease will be about 1090m2. (Refer Lease R on the attached draft lease plan).  
Lease L on the attached site plan (currently held by Burdekin Touch Assn.) will be 
surrendered and joined with proposed Lease R.  
 
 
Link to Corporate/Operational Plan 

3.4.2 Support sporting organisations in providing opportunities for physical activity. 
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Consultation 

Burdekin Rugby League Inc, Burdekin Junior Rugby League Football Club Inc, Burdekin 
Touch Association Inc and Lower Burdekin Hockey Association 
 
Legal Authority or Implications 

Section 57(1) of Land Act 1994 
 
Policy Implications 

N/A 
 
Financial and Resource Implications 

Lease preparation and registration costs are the responsibility of the lessee. 
Staff resource allocation for preparation of lease documentation. 
 
Report prepared by: 
Vicki Walker - Governance and Property Officer 
 
Report authorised by: 
Nick O’Connor - Director Corporate and Community Services 
 
Attachments 

1. Aerial view of Lot 8 on CP910254. 
2. Draft Lease Plan showing proposed Lease R on Part Lot 8 on CP910254. 
3. Site Plan – Current Trustee Leases – Ayr Sports Reserve. 
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6 ENVIRONMENTAL AND HEALTH SERVICES  

 

7 CLIENT SERVICES 

 

8 FINANCIAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 

8.1 First Amended Budget for 2018/2019  
 
Document Information 

Referring Letter No:   N/A  
 
File No:   1053 
 
Name of Applicant: N/A 
 
Location:  N/A 
 
Author and Title: Fiona Smith – Financial Accountant 
 
 
Executive Summary 

In accordance with the Local Government Act 2009 and the Local Government Regulation 
2012, Council may, by resolution, amend the budget for a financial year at any time before 
the end of the financial year.  As required by the regulation, Council has completed the 
budget revision for 2018/19 and the next two financial years. 
 
Management have completed a review of the 2018/19 budget based on results to the end of 
September and estimated transactions for the remainder of the financial year.  The first 
amended budget includes capital carryover projects and funding. 
 
An amended budget for the 2018/19 financial year is submitted for adoption. 
 
Recommendation 

That the amended budget and report for the period ending 30 June 2019 as tabled be 
adopted. 
 
Background Information 

The amended budget is based on best estimates of expenditure and income as provided by 
the relevant Managers to the end of September. 
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Financial Analysis 
The original budget operational surplus of $1,403,566 has changed to an operational deficit 
of $1,109,985 in the first budget revision.  This decrease is mainly attributable to the payment 
in 2017/18 of half of the 2018/19 Financial Assistance Grant of $1,871,000.  Additionally, the 
total amount of Financial Assistance Grant to be received is approximately $160,000 less 
than anticipated when preparing the original budget.  The original expected grant was 
calculated based on historical amounts received.   
 
An increase in depreciation expense of $266,851 contributes to the reduction of the operating 
result, mainly in the asset classes of Transport, Sewerage, Buildings and Water.  These 
estimates have been impacted by revaluations, capitalisations, and the process undertaken 
in calculating depreciation.           
 
Materials and services costs are projected to increase by $635,000, however this was largely 
offset by grants, recoverable works income, and a decrease in employee costs.  The 
increase in materials and services includes the Rangemore Road upgrade and street art 
projects, both are funded by Works for Queensland. 
 
This revision includes a budget for other capital expenses, which reflects the actual costs for 
the period to 30 September 2018.  This expense is not included in the original budget as 
Council assumes no profit or loss on disposal or write-off of assets. 
 
The Capital Works Program budget has increased by $6.2M to $22.8M.  The revised budget 
includes $4.3M of carryover projects from the 2017/18 financial year.  The remaining 
increase in assets is funded by grants, reserves and depreciation. 
 
Capital projects carried over from 2017/18 include: 
 
$      1,431,842  Roadworks 
$         333,072  Sewerage Pump Station Switchboard Replacement Program 
$         287,803  Mt Kelly Water Rising Main Replacement of 1350m Section 
$         275,285  Edward Street Drainage 
$         200,000  Ayr Sewerage Treatment Plant Replace Arms on Trickle Filters 
$         150,000  Home Hill Transfer Station Reconstruction of Greenwaste Pad 
$         150,000  Ayr Transfer Station Reconstruction of Greenwaste Pad 
$         112,173  Major Drainage Schemes 
$           98,962  Ayr Aerodrome Electrical Upgrade Stage 1 
$           88,201  Home Hill Water Tower Replacement of Aerators 
$           81,137  Ayr Swimming Pool Refurbishment of Scum Guttering 
$           64,300  Drainage Channel Construction South Ayr 
$           57,548  Groper Creek Relocation of Public Conveniences Septic System 
$           38,847  Home Hill Water Tower Design of Replacement Switchboard 
$           19,088  Ayr Skate Park Installation of New Shade Structure and Solar Lights 

$           12,757  Fourth Avenue Installation of Stormwater Drainage Pipe and 
Easement Acquisition 

$           12,502  Supply and Installation of Park Furniture at Various Shire Parks 
$           12,000  Burdekin Library Replace Main Air Conditioner 
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$             7,000  South Ayr Water Treatment Plant Installation of Flowmeters and 
Construction of Associated Pits 

 
Works for Queensland Round 2 capital projects scheduled for 2018/19 total $2,758,675, with 
the following projects carrying over funds from 2017/18: 
 
$         213,175  Ayr Showgrounds Upgrade 
$         130,000  Energy Efficiency Initiatives – Chamber Installation of Solar Power 
$         100,000  Ayr Aerodrome Design and Construction of Fuel Facility 
$         100,000  New Visitor Information Centre 
$           96,800  Queen Street Public Amenities Upgrade 
$           80,000  Anzac Park Retaining Wall Upgrade 
$           60,000  Anzac Park Playground Upgrade Softfall 
$           50,000  Burdekin Be Active Trail Installation of Exercise Stations  
$           38,700  Home Hill Transfer Station Upgrade 

 
New/additional projects funded by grants approved following the adoption of the original 
budget are detailed below: 
 
$      1,500,000  Plantation Park Nature Based Play Space Construction 
$         270,000  Equipment for the Augmentation of the Flood Reporting Network 
$         124,000  Detailed Design of a Macro-Algal Bioremediation Facility 

 
Forecast Years 
 
The changes occurring in the 2018/19 budget revision impact the future years, requiring a 
change to the forward assumptions.  For both 2019/20 and 2020/21, general rates were 
marginally increased and materials and services have been decreased.  The reduction in 
materials can be partially attributed to the expected savings in electricity costs in Council 
buildings as a result of the energy efficiency project. 
 
Council will continue to experience ongoing financial challenges from variability in grant 
funding and increasing depreciation expenses.  This should be taken into account when 
considering making decisions to expand programs or introduce new projects to ensure further 
increases to rates are not required.  
 
Link to Corporate/Operational Plan 

Strategy 5.3.2 – Ensure Council’s financial position is effectively managed. 
Strategy 5.3.3 – Adhere to the governance framework and public reporting systems. 
Strategy 5.3.4 – Undertake regulatory responsibilities in accordance with legislative 
regulations. 
 
Consultation 

The amended budget has been collated and presented by the Finance and Administrative 
Services Department from estimates provided by Managers. 
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Legal Authority or Implications 

Local Government Act 2009 
Chapter 4 Finances and accountability 
 
Local Government Regulation 2012 
Section 170 Adoption and amendment of budget 
 
Interpretation guidance on this legislation is provided from the Department of Local 
Government. 
 
 
Policy Implications 

N/A 
 
Financial and Resource Implications 

Refer to content of report. 
 
Report prepared by: 
Fiona Smith – Financial Accountant 
 
Report authorised by: 
Kim Olsen – Manager Financial and Administrative Services 
 
Attachments 

1. First Revised Budget including Financial Sustainability – 2018/2019 
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9 OPERATIONS 

 

10 TECHNICAL SERVICES 

 

11 PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 

 

12 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

 

13 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

 

14 NOTICES OF MOTION 

14.1 Use of Council Bus - Burdekin Readers and Writers Festival  
 

Recommendation 

That Council endorses the Mayor’s approval for the use of the Council Bus to transport 
authors to and from Townsville Airport during the 2018 Burdekin Readers and Writers 
Festival on Saturday 13 and Sunday 14 October 2018.  
 

Background Information 

The Burdekin Readers and Writers Association requested the use of the Council Bus to 
transport authors to and from Townsville Airport during the 2018 Burdekin Readers and 
Writers Festival on Saturday 13 and Sunday 14 October.  Prior to the event, the Mayor was 
unable to raise the request at a Council Meeting to establish whether Council supported the 
use of the Council Bus.  Due to the nature of the event, the Mayor approved the use of the 
Council Bus.  
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15 CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION 

Tabled Separately 
 
 

16 GENERAL BUSINESS 

 

17 CLOSED MEETING ITEMS 

• Consideration of Report on Ayr Swimming Pool Scum Gutter Refurbishment 
 

• Consideration of Report - Transfer of Contract for  Animal Pound Services  
 

 

18 DELEGATIONS 

18.1 Australian Citizenship Ceremony 
 
10:15am – Citizenship Ceremony 
 
Mr Marius BOTHA (South Africa) 
Mrs Marieta BOTHA (South Africa) 
Miss Bridget BOTHA(South Africa)        
Miss Chumane BOTHA(South Africa) 
Master Xander BOTHA (New Zealand) 
Mr Benjamin Raphael Sacha CHESNEAU (France) 
Mr Ramil Cerdeno HINOLAN   (Philippines) 
Mrs Maria Vera Villaflor HINOLAN   (Philippines) 
Miss Raven Louise Villaflor HINOLAN (Philippines) 
Mrs Joyce KADIYALF (India) 
Mr Henry Craig KIRTON (South Africa) 
Mrs Marilyn KIRTON (South Africa) 
Mrs Suzanne Michelle LOADER (United Kingdom) 
Mrs Christiane ROBERTSON (Germany) 
Mr Mandeep SINGH (India) 
Mr Robert Francis WILSON (South Africa) 
Mr Samantha Srinath Bandara Wanigasekara WANIGASEKARA MUDIYANSELAGE (Sri 
Lanka) 
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